

Evidence based Psychiatric Care Journal of the Italian Society of Psychiatry

www.evidence-based-psychiatric-care.org



Vol. 07 | 1_2021

Evidence based Psychiatric Care

Journal of the Italian Society of Psychiatry Vol. 07 | 1 2021 SOCIETÀ ITALIANA DI PSICHIATRIA

Editors-in-Chief Enrico Zanalda Massimo di Giannantonio

Deputy Editors

Bernardo Carpiniello Giancarlo Cerveri Massimo Clerici Domenico De Berardis Guido Di Sciascio Paola Rocca Antonio Vita

International Scientific Board

Arango Celso, Madrid Fleischhacker Wolfgang, Innsbruck Fountoulakis Konstantinos N, Thessaloniki Grunze Heinz, Newcastle upon Tyne Leucht Stefan, Munchen Rihmer Zoltan, Budapest Jakovljevic Miro, Zagabria Gorwood Philip, Paris Demyttenaere Koen, Leuven Höschl Cyril, Praga Tiihonen Jari, Stockholm

Editorial coordinator and secretary

Lucia Castelli - Icastelli@pacinieditore.it Tel. +39 050 3130224 - Fax +39 050 3130300

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl - Pisa

Managing Editor

Patrizia Alma Pacini

Publisher

Pacini Editore Srl via Gherardesca1 - 56121 Pisa, Italy Tel. +39 050 313011 - Fax +39 050 313000 www.pacinimedicina.it

Journal registered at "Registro pubblico degli Operatori della Comunicazione" (Pacini Editore Srl registration n. 6269 - 29/8/2001)

ISSN 2421-4469 (online)

Digital Edition Aprile 2021

Registration in progress at the Tribunal of Pisa

Contents

Letter from SIP Presidents to Minister of Health <i>M. di Giannantonio, E. Zanalda</i>	1
Psychiatric expertise: from social control to indication of treatment L'expertise psychiatrique: du contrôle social à l'indication aux soins (trad. fr.) G.C. Nivoli, M. Amore, M. di Giannatonio, E. Zanalda	3
Compliance, cognition and comorbidity in bipolar disorder M. Vaishnav, V.G. Watve, A. Bhide, M.S. Reddy, S. Mittal, D. Ray, A.K. Agarwal	7
Performance evaluation in the Departments of Mental Health: the implementation of a multidimensional directional dashboard in the Department of the Bari Local Health Authority V. Latorre, C.N. De Sario, D. Scaltrito, M. Abruzzese, G. Carrieri, M.G. Casull A. Cicorella, M. Lopez, M. Lozupone, R. Marinaro, R. Martino, D. Maselli, C.A.G. Mazzilli, A. Piarulli, R. Taratufolo, M. Cisternino, D. Semisa	' <i>i,</i> 15
Updates in treating major depressive disorder in the elderly: a systematic revie M. Amore, A. Aguglia, G. Serafini, A. Amerio	ew 23
Prevention and early intervention in mental health: a one-year analysis of activity from a Local Public Health Trust	∕ity
I. Panaccione, G. Davì, F. Lombardi, V. Mirizio, G. Di Cesare, G. Ducci	32
Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation to treat Substance Use Disorders and Behavioral addictions: the state of the art	
G. Martinotti, A. Miuli, G. Stigliano, M. Pettorruso, M. di Giannantonio	40
Book Review	47

www.evidence-based-psychiatric-care.org

Evidence based Psychiatric Care

Journal of the Italian Society of Psychiatry



Letter from SIP Presidents to Minister of Health

Massimo di Giannantonio¹, Enrico Zanalda²

¹ Presidente Eletto SIP; ² Presidente SIP

The 21st of january 2021 we wrote a letter to Onorevole Roberto Speranza Ministry of Healt. We asked him that as part of the fight against the COVID-19 pandemic our patients be considered with priority for vaccination. The President of the World Psychiatric Association Afzal Javed previously sent a letter to the national psychiatric associations, inviting all members to work towards the protection of people with mental illness during the COVID-19 pandemic.

This was also the message of the WPA's Advisory Committee on Responses to Emergencies (ACRE) at the recent meeting in January. The Committee suggested that Member Societies might wish to approach their respective governments about the need for persons with Severe Mental Illnesses (SMIs) to be considered for priority in vaccination programmes.

Also other several Member Societies like us are already in the process of doing this.

Attached is the content of the letter sent.



Massimo di Giannantonio



Enrico Zanalda

How to cite this article:

di Giannantonio M, Zanalda E. Letter from SIP Presidents to Minister of Health. Evidence-based Psychiatric Care 2021;7:1-2. https://doi. org/10.36180/2421-4469-2021-1

Correspondence:

Massimo di Giannantonio digiannantonio@unich.it

Enrico Zanalda enrico.zanalda@yahoo.it

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

Open Access

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl



SOCIETÀ ITALIANA DI PSICHIATRIA Affiliated to World Psychiatric Association

Presidente Enrico Zanalda

Presidente Eletto Massimo Di Giannantonio

Past President Bernardo Carpiniello Claudio Mencacci

Vice Presidenti Matteo Balestrieri Emi Bondi Salvatore Varia Antonio Vita

Segretario Guido Di Sciascio

Vice Segretario Moreno De Rossi

Consiglieri Eletti Mario Amore Antonello Bellomo Paola Calò Gian Carlo Cerveri Giulio Corrivetti Giuseppe Ducci Andrea Fagiolini Bruno Forti Lucio Ghio Pierluigi Politi Paola Rocca Rita Roncone Vincenzo Villari Rocco Zoccali

Presidente Comitato Etico Massimo Rabboni

Consiglieri Comitato Etico Andreas Conca Stefano Nassini Paolo Peloso Gianmarco Polselli Francesco Risso Alla cortese attenzione del Ministro della Salute On. Roberto Speranza

Durante l'Assemblea Generale che si è svolta nell'ottobre 2020, l'Associazione Psichiatrica Mondiale (World Psychiatric Association, WPA), che rappresenta più di 250.000 psichiatri in 120 paesi, ha adottato una posizione sull'assistenza sanitaria alle persone con malattie mentali durante l'attuale pandemia COVID-19 che ha trasmesso a tutte le società affiliate come quella italiana. Il presidente della WPA, Afzal Javed, ci ha esortato a contattare il Ministero della Salute per sottolineare che le indagini scientifiche hanno dimostrato come le persone con malattie mentali abbiano maggiori probabilità di essere infettate dal COVID-19 e che, una volta colpite, presentino tassi di mortalità più elevati rispetto al resto della popolazione.

Il Comitato Consultivo sulla Risposta alle Emergenze della WPA (Advisory Council on Response to Emergencies, ACRE) di cui facciamo parte come SIP, ha discusso questo problema nella riunione dell'11 gennaio 2021 e si è deciso di rivolgersi alle istituzioni governative e non governative, **per esortarle ad includere le persone con malattie mentali tra i gruppi ai quali verrà data priorità nei programmi di vaccinazione**.

Riteniamo che anche il governo italiano, al pari di altri governi mondiali, debba dare disposizioni in questo senso. L'inclusione delle persone con gravi malattie mentali tra i gruppi considerati prioritari nei programmi di vaccinazione è una decisione da assumere nell'interesse della salute pubblica ed esprime allo stesso tempo il rispetto dei diritti umani delle persone con malattie mentali.

La WPA continuerà a monitorare la situazione nei vari paesi e ad informare gli organismi professionali e governativi sull'impatto della pandemia COVID-19 sulle persone con malattie mentali e le loro famiglie e sugli effetti della vaccinazione contro il COVID-19.

I Presidenti SIP

Prof. Massimo di Giannantonio

Dott. Enrico Zanalda

Domicilio: Piazza Santa Maria della Pietà, 5 - 00135 ROMA (RM) - Tel. +39 340 8000944 Sito web: <u>http://www.psichiatria.it</u> e-mail: <u>segreteria@psichiatria.it</u> Sede Legale: Milano C.F. 96051260584 P.I. 04161601002

Evidence based Psychiatric Care

Journal of the Italian Society of Psychiatry

Psychiatric expertise: from social control to indication of treatment

Gian Carlo Nivoli¹, Mario Amore², Massimo di Giannatonio³, Enrico Zanalda³

¹ Presidente Società Italiana di Psichiatria Forense (SIPF), ² Vice-Presidente CUN, Area Medica, Consiglio Universitario Nazionale; ³ Presidente Società Italiana di Psichiatria (SIP)

This paper is a psychiatric, clinical and forensic scientific update on psychiatric expertise. It consists of nine forensic psychiatric observations shared and accepted by the Italian Psychiatric Association (SIP) and the Italian Society of Forensic Psychiatry (SIPF), which, according to Italian law (n. 43/2017) have legal value on the subject of good clinical practices and evaluation of the psychiatrist's professional responsibility ^{1,2}.

The contribution of psychiatry to the legal assessment of dangerousness

The concept of dangerousness is a juridical concept on the subject of social defence and social control and is the exclusive competence of the magistrate. It is not the task of psychiatry and forensic psychiatry to assess social defence, social control, establish premeditation, declare aggravating or mitigating circumstances, etc. Psychiatry, in terms of diagnosis and therapy, which is its pertinence and competence, will illustrate to the magistrate the clinical seriousness of the mental disorder and the degree of intensity of the treatment to be applied (on the territory, in the community, in high intensity care facilities such as REMS, etc.), contextualised and feasible in relation to the specific case. The magistrate may use this psychiatric information on the basis of his discretionary power and on the basis of what the law provides for in terms of legal criteria for the assessment of dangerousness.

Sharing between the expert and the case manager

The treatment indications, when appropriate, contained in a psychiatric report (where and by whom the patient must be treated) must be shared between the writer of the report (expert) and the person who will treat the patient (case manager). The shared procedure avoids conflicts of competences between the protagonists of the judicial assessment, dysfunctions in the administration of Justice and Health and is a medical-psychiatric variable that contributes to validate the treatment and rehabilitation paths. The shared information is offered to the magistrate's assessment.

The report as a medical-psychiatric document

The psychiatric report does not only contain the answer to the magistrate's specific questions, but in the information useful for the purposes of justice, it provides a medical-psychiatric documentation useful for the treatment and rehabilitation paths, foreseen by the law, for the patient. This is a medical-psychiatric documentation the patient in his or her therapeutic pathways, which can be easily retrieved by the treating personnel in order to document and validate the treatment choices.





Società Italiana di Psichiatria

Gian Carlo Nivoli

Mario Amore





Massimo di Giannatonio

Enrico Zanalda

How to cite this article:

Nivoli GC, Amore M, di Giannatonio M, et al. Psychiatric expertise: from social control to indication of treatment [trad. fr. L'expertise psychiatrique: du contrôle social à l'indication aux soins]. Evidence-based Psychiatric Care 2021;7:3-6. https://doi. org/10.36180/2421-4469-2021-2

Correspondence:

Gian Carlo Nivoli giancarlonivoli@gmail.com

Mario Amore mario.Amore@unige.it

Massimo di Giannantonio digiannantonio@unich.it

Enrico Zanalda enrico.zanalda@yahoo.it

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en



© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl

The difference between Forensic Psychiatry and other neuroscientific disciplines

Aims and methodologies of forensic psychiatry are different from those of other disciplines of knowledge such as clinical psychiatry, psychotherapy, psychology, psychoanalysis, genetics, pharmacotherapy, examination with mental reagents, diagnosis by means of imaging, diagnostic laboratory tests, etc. Confusing the aims and methodology of forensic psychiatry with the aims and methodologies of other disciplines can lead to confusion and errors that reduce the scientific and forensic validity of the report.

Criteria for the forensic validity of an expert report

In order to be declared forensically valid, an expert report must respect some precise criteria. The Italian Psychiatric Association has highlighted a series of variables that must be respected in an expert report: the type of assignment, the diary of the expert operations, the description of the facts for which proceedings are being taken, the medical-psychiatric and possibly criminal anamnesis, the direct psychiatric examination, the clinical evaluation and the causal link, the psychiatric-forensic observations, the answer to the questions. The magistrate, in his capacity as 'guardian of the scientific method', has the right and duty to evaluate the methodology with which the report is drawn up and, if he considers it necessary, to declare it incomplete or even 'inadmissible' at trial.

Appropriateness Criteria of expertise

The psychiatric report, like all medical documentation, must meet the criteria of clinical appropriateness. It must also respect forensic appropriateness and contain all necessary information and not all possible information. The appropriateness of an expert report is based on an accurate clinical and forensic psychiatric assessment of the case, it must be contextualised to the situation for which it was requested.

The qualification of experts

The performance of psychiatric expertise and counselling requires qualification as required by law and by codes of ethics and good clinical care practices. The law in particular requires real expertise on the specific task to be performed. The Italian Psychiatric Association has defined the criteria for the qualification of the psychiatric expert: physician, specialist in psychiatry with at least 8 years of clinical psychiatric care experience in public facilities in addition to the years of specialisation and an adequate curriculum in relation of the case in question. This qualification guarantees the magistrate of the expert's specific competence and ensures that the indications provided are in line with the organisation of the National Health System, which often has to be involved in the subject's treatment pathway.

Recusal and denunciation of expert

The law provides for the objection of experts and advisers when they are not qualified or reliable. There are legal criteria for establishing qualification. There is also specific national case law and a large body of international literature establishing criteria for the reliability of the expert. The request for objection, with adequate reasons, must be submitted to the competent magistrate. The expert and the consultant can be professionally liable for the correctness of their work for any guilty inexperience, negligence and imprudence.

Training and scientific updating in forensic psychiatry

In order to obtain the title of specialist in psychiatry, training in forensic psychiatry and in the assessment of professional responsibility are required by law. These are two specific topics of forensic psychiatry with important consequences in the daily management of psychiatric care. The scientific updating of experts and consultants is a criterion of their qualification and reliability.

Conclusions

The nine forensic psychiatric observations listed above constitute the indispensable premise for the correct execution of a psychiatric expertise. The Magistrate, in the cases provided for by law, may resort to the constitution of a panel of experts. Both the Italian Psychiatric Association and the Italian Society of Forensic Psychiatry consider this modality to be correct if the panel as a whole meets the required qualifications.

References

- ¹ Nivoli G, lorettu I, Milia P, et al. Psichiatria Forense. Buone pratiche cliniche assistenziali in tema di suicido, comportamento violento sulla persona, rivendicazioni di interesse psichiatrico, perizia psichiatrica. G. Piccin ed. 2019.
- ² Psichiatria forense nella pratica psichiatrica quotidiana. Società Italiana di Psichiatria. Società Italiana di Psichiatria Forense. Introduzione: Di Giannantonio M, Zanalda E, Nivoli G. Scritto presente e liberamente riproducibile dal sito ufficiale della Società Italiana di Psichiatria e della Società Italiana di Psichiatria Forense.

L'expertise psychiatrique: du contrôle social à l'indication aux soins

Société italienne de Psychiatrie, Société Italienne de Psychiatrie Légale

Cet article est une mise à jour scientifique psychiatrique, clinique et médico-légale sur l'expertise psychiatrique pénale. Il s'agit de neuf observations psychiatriques cliniques et médico-légales partagées et acceptées par la Société Italienne de Psychiatrie (SIP) et par la Société Italienne de Psychiatrie Légale (SIPF) qui, conformément à la loi italienne (n 43/2017), ont une valeur juridique en termes de bonnes pratiques cliniques, d'expertise et d'évaluation de la responsabilité professionnelle du psychiatre ^{1,2}.

La contribution de la psychiatrie à l'évaluation juridique de la dangerosité

Le concept de dangerosité est un concept juridique qui concerne la protection sociale et le contrôle social. Il est de pertinence et compétence, selon la loi italienne, exclusivement du juge. La protection sociale, le contrôle social, l'évaluation de la préméditation, des circonstances aggravantes ou atténuantes, etc. ne relèvent pas de la psychiatrie ni de la psychiatrie légale.

Par contre, il est de pertinence et compétence du psychiatre (en termes de diagnostic et de thérapie) de communiquer au magistrat la sévérité clinique du trouble psychique et le type et l'intensité des soins à pratiquer (sur le territoire, dans la communauté, dans des structures dédiées aux patients difficiles tels que residences pour l'execution de misures de surete (REMS), etc.) qui seront adaptées au cas spécifique. Le magistrat pourra utiliser ces informations psychiatriques en fonction de ce que la loi prévoit en termes de critères juridiques d'appréciation de la dangerosité.

L'échange entre qui rédige l'expertise et qui soigne l'expertisé

Les indications au traitement, quand il y en a, sont documentées dans l'expertise psychiatrique (sur laquelle se base, au debut, la prise en charge thérapeutique de l'expertisé) et doivent être partagées entre ceux qui rédigent l'expertise et ceux qui soigneront l'expertisé. Ce partage évite les conflits de compétence entre les acteurs de l'évaluation judiciaire, et aussi les dysfonctionnements administratifs entre les systèmes judiciaire et sanitaire. Il s'agit d'une variable médicale psychiatrique qui permet de documenter et valider les parcours de traitement et de rééducation. Ce partage d'informations psychiatriques est soumis à l'évaluation du magistrat.

L'expertise psychiatrique considérée comme document médico-psychiatrique

L'expertise psychiatrique non seulement contient la réponse aux questions spécifiques du magistrat et des informations utiles aux fins juridiques, mais fournit aussi une documentation médico-psychiatrique utiles aux parcours de traitement et de rééducation de l'expertisé, prévus par la loi italienne. Il s'agit d'une documentation médico-psychiatrique qui est censées suivre l'expertisé dans son parcours thérapeutique et qui doit être facilement accessible aux soignants afin de documenter et valider les choix thérapeutiques nécessaires.

La différence entre la psychiatrie légale et les autres disciplines de la connaissance scientifique

La psychiatrie légale a des objectifs et des méthodologies différents des objectifs et des méthodologies des autres disciplines de la connaissance, telles que : la psychiatrie clinique, les psychothérapies, la psychologie, la psychanalyse, la génétique, la pharmacothérapie, l'imagerie cérébrale avec injection, tests de laboratoire, etc. Melanger les objectifs et la méthodologie de la psychiatrie légale avec les objectifs et les méthodologies d'autres disciplines peut induire la confusion et l'erreur et réduire la validité scientifique et médico-légale de l'expertise psychiatrique.

Les critères de validité médico-légale d'une expertise psychiatrique.

Une expertise, afin d'être considérée valide au niveau médico-légal, doit respecter des critères précis. La Société Italienne de Psychiatrie et la Société Italienne de Psychiatrie Légale a établi un certain nombre de caractéristiques à respecter: le type de mission, le journal des démarches faites par l'expert au cours de l'expertise, la description des faits en question, les antécédents médicaux, psychiatriques et éventuellement criminels, l'évaluation psychiatrique, l'évaluation clinique et le lien médico-légal de causalité entre la trouble psichiche et le comportement criminel, les observations psychiatriques médico-légales, la réponse aux questions. Le magistrat en tant que «garant de la méthode scientifique» a le droit et le devoir d'évaluer la méthodologie avec laquelle l'expertise est rédigée. Le magistrat peut juger l'expertise incomplète ou même «non recevable» au procès à cause de la "non-conformité" à la méthode scientifique et médico-légal.

Les critères de pertinence de l'expertise

L'expertise psychiatrique doit respecter les critères liés à la pertinence clinique comme tous documents médicaux, mais aussi les critères liés à la pertinence médico-légale et contenir toutes les informations nécessaires et non toutes les informations possibles. La pertinence d'une expertise se base sur une évaluation clinique et médico-légale précise du cas, en le contextualisant à la situation specifique pour laquelle elle a été demandée. La qualification des experts.

L'expertise psychiatrique nécessite une qualification des experts qui la rédigent qui est requise par la loi, au sujet des codes éthiques et des bonnes pratiques de soins cliniques. La loi exige en particulier une réelle compétence sur la tâche spécifique à accomplir. La Société Italienne de Psychiatrie et la Société Italienne de Psychiatrie Légale ont défini les critères de gualification de l'expert psychiatre: il doit être médecin, spécialiste en psychiatrie avec une expérience d'assistance clinique dans une structure publique depuis au moins 8 ans (mise à part les années d'internat) et doit avoir un curriculum professionnel adéquat par rapport à l'évaluation du cas spécifique. Cette qualification garantit au magistrat la compétence spécifique de l'expert pour fournir des réponses aux questions judiciaires et aux questions propres à l'organisation du système national de santé, qui doit souvent être impliqué dans le parcours de soins du patient.

La récusation de l'expert

La loi prévoit la récusation de l'expert (et/ou du consultant) lorsqu'il n'est pas assez qualifié ou fiable. Des critères juridiques sont requis pour déterminer la qualification. Il existe aussi une jurisprudence nationale spécifique et une large littérature internationale qui établit les critères de fiabilité de l'expert ^{1,2}. La demande de récusation, dûment motivée, doit être transmise au magistrat concerné. L'expert et qui donne un avis psichiatrique judiciaire doivent rendre compte, selon la loi, de l'exactitude de leur travail et de toute éventuelle négligence, imprudence et manque de méthodologie et de connaissance professionelle requise.

Formation et mise à jour scientifique en psychiatrie légale. La loi italienne prévoit une formation dans le domaine de l'expertise et dans le domaine de l'évaluation de la responsabilité professionnelle afin d'obtenir le titre de spécialiste en psychiatrie. Il s'agit de deux domaines spécifiques de la psychiatrie légale qui ont des conséquences importantes dans la gestion quotidienne des soins psychiatriques. La mise à jour scientifique des experts fait partie des critères déterminant leur qualification et leur fiabilité.

Conclusions

Les neuf observations psychiatriques médico-légales énoncées ci-dessus constituent la base pour garantir la bonne exécution d'une expertise psychiatrique. Le magistrat, dans les cas prévus par la loi, peut recourir à la création d'un collège d'experts. La Société italienne de Psychiatrie et la Société Italienne de Psychiatrie Légale considèrent que cette méthode est correcte à condition que le collège dans son ensemble satisfasse à la qualification requise.

Bibliographie

- ¹ Nivoli G, lorettu I, Milia P, et al. Psichiatria Forense. Buone pratiche cliniche assistenziali in tema di suicido, comportamento violento sulla persona, rivendicazioni di interesse psichiatrico, perizia psichiatrica. G. Piccin ed. 2019.
- ² Psichiatria forense nella pratica psichiatrica quotidiana. Società Italiana di Psichiatria. Società Italiana di Psichiatria Forense. Introduzione: Di Giannantonio M, Zanalda E, Nivoli G. Scritto presente e liberamente riproducibile dal sito ufficiale della Società Italiana di Psichiatria e della Società Italiana di Psichiatria Forense.

Evidence based Psychiatric Care

Journal of the Italian Society of Psychiatry

Compliance, cognition and comorbidity in bipolar disorder

Mrugesh Vaishnav¹, Vidyadhar G. Watve², Ajit Bhide³, M. Saikumar Reddy⁴, Sunil Mittal⁵, Debasish Ray⁶, Anil Kumar Agarwal⁷

¹ Director, Samvedana Happiness Hospital, Ahmedabad, Gujarat, Past President, Indian Psychiatric Society; ² Past President, Indian Psychiatry Society; ³ Past President, Indian Psychiatry Society; ⁴ Director, Asha Hospital, Hyderabad; ⁵ Director, Delhi Psychiatric Centre; ⁶ Consultant Psychiatrist, Harlem Point, Kolkata; ⁷ Ex. Prof. & Head, Emiratus King George Medical University, Lucknow





Mrugesh Vaishnav

Summary

Background: Bipolar disorder (BD) causes unusual shifts in mood and energy levels which can have life-long adverse effects on the patient's mental and physical health.

Aim: To identify and address the unmet clinical needs in diagnostic assessment and therapeutic intervention on compliance, cognitive impairment, comorbid substance use and obsessive compulsive disorder in BD among Indian clinical practice.

Method: A total of eighty-five expert psychiatrists reviewed specific areas of uncertainty and formulate the consensus pertaining to bipolar disorder through focused group discussion sessions (FGDs) conducted across seven cities in India. Themes were used to generate research questions which were thoroughly discussed with the psychiatrists.

Results: Bipolar disorder identification of at-risk populations has been difficult. According to psychiatrists, mania is diagnostic of BD. When patients present with alarming symptoms, psychiatrists consider the condition as BD and were of the opinion that patients should be fully well-versed with manic and depressive symptoms. Further BD has exhibited high rates of treatment non-adherence and in clinical practice psychiatrists observed that personality of patient, medication dose, influence of patient's family member, and stigma are the key factors influencing treatment adherence. Psychiatrists opined that assessment of cognitive impairment is needed during follow-up to plan personalized cognitive remediation in case of definite cognitive deficiency.

Conclusion: In conclusion, BD is a major public health problem complicated by high comorbidity and poor health outcomes leading to significant mortality risk. Patients and family care givers awareness about disease burden, diagnosis and management can reduce complications and enhance outcomes.

Key words: bipolar disorder, compliance, cognition, substance use, obsessive compulsive disorder

Introduction

Bipolar disorder (BD), also known as manic-depressive illness, is a brain disorder that causes unusual shifts in mood, energy, activity levels, and the ability to carry out day-to-day tasks. The four basic types of BD are: Bipolar I, Bipolar II, Cyclothymia, other specified and unspecified bipolar disorder ¹. BD typically begins in adolescence or early adulthood and can have life-long adverse effects on the patient's mental and physical health,

How to cite this article: Vaishnav M., Watve VG, Bhide A, et al. Compliance, cognition and comorbidity in bipolar disorder. Evidence-based Psychiatric Care 2021;7:7-14. https://doi. org/10.36180/2421-4469-2021-3

Correspondence:

Mrugesh Vaishnav mrugeshvaishnav@gmail.com

Conflict of interest The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en



© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl

educational and occupational functioning, and interpersonal relationships ².

The prevalence of BD across the world varies from 0.4 to 1.5 percent by country. Globally, an estimated 40 million people in the world had bipolar disorder in 2016, with 0.55 and 0.65 percent being male and female, respectively ³. According to the 2015-2016 report of the National Mental Health Survey (NMHS), the current and lifetime prevalence of mood disorders including bipolar and depressive disorder in India is 2.84% (95% CI: 2.81-2.87) and 5.61% (95% CI: 5.57-5.65) respectively, while that of BD alone (including single mania and hypomania episodes) is 0.30% (95% CI: 0.29-0.31) and 0.50% (95% CI: 0.49-0.51) respectively ⁴.

Literature reports that patients with BD often present with depression, mixed state (i.e., depressed mood combined with increased energy, restlessness and racing thoughts), psychosis, manic or hypomanic episodes with rapid cycling between such episodes ⁵. Studies report that 50% or more of patients initially present with depression and since MDD and BD have similar symptoms it is very common for BD to be misdiagnosed as MDD ⁶. One study reported that over 60% of patients who were eventually diagnosed with BD had previously been misdiagnosed with MDD ⁷. Further, patients vary greatly in severity of symptoms and duration of episodes. As a result of diverse symptoms and misdiagnosis, the condition remains unrecognized in many patients for several years often leading to delay in diagnosis.

Even with a successful diagnosis, management of BD is challenging due to wide range of phenotypic expressions and responses to treatment. Although the number of treatments has increased, full recovery is rarely observed as substantial proportion of patients do not respond adequately to drug monotherapy, and combinations of drugs are often required to achieve stability and reduce relapses⁸. In addition to pharmacotherapy, adjunctive psychosocial interventions are also considered in order to improve social functioning, reduce the need for-pharmacotherapy, number of hospitalization and relapse rates 9-12. Given the demographic, geographical and cultural diversity in India, it becomes essential to understand principles and practice of managing BD among Indian population. Therefore, the objective of the expert consensus document was to identify and address the unmet clinical needs in diagnostic assessment and therapeutic intervention on compliance, cognitive impairment and comorbid substance use and obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) in bipolar disorder among Indian clinical practice through detailed focus group discussions, involving experts in bipolar disorder so as to aid clinical decision making for practitioners in the complex decision-making process.

Method

An expert panel groups were constituted comprising 85 leading psychiatrists' experts in India who thoroughly re-

viewed the up to date literature and developed the consensus document.

Results

General considerations

This clinical scientific statement represents the consensus of panel experts who focused on to understand the unmet need and challenges faced during the treatment of BD.

Uncertainties & unmet needs in bipolar disorder

For psychiatric disorders in general, and for BD in particular, identification of at-risk populations has been difficult as there is considerable uncertainty about how to identify high-risk groups and no effective preventive measures are available 8. The most promising approach so far observed is to follow up children and adolescents who have parents with bipolar disorders ^{13,14}. To identify at-risk BD population, expert panel were of opinion that mania is diagnostic of BD and when patients present with alarming symptoms they consider the condition as BD and were of the opinion that patients should be fully well-versed with manic and depressive symptoms. Further, expert panel were of the opinion that every patient followed a set pattern of individualized symptoms such as BD episodes and relapse. Moreover, BD has genetic inheritance and runs in the families and thus genetic loading and predisposition is guite high. Behavioral disorder, childhood depression, personality disorder with substance abuse should be screened in patients suspected with BD. ADHD is associated with small children who struggle to pay proper attention in school due to high stress level. Attention deficit is present during inter episodal phase i.e., euthymic phase and thus it should be noted that the symptoms of ADHD often carry on into adulthood merging with symptoms typically associated with adults with bipolar spectrum disorder. Since bipolar is a progressive condition, no specific brain imaging biomarkers are available for identification of at risk population and thus it remains a grey area. However, the clinical benefit of identifying atrisk population needs to be seen.

Further, expert panel were of opinion that diagnosing BD, compliance, polytherapy, patient insight and cultural beliefs are few challenges encountered by them. Compliance is an issue as it takes seven days' time for a medication to work making patients poorly adhere to the treatment. Diagnosing BD particularly misdiagnosis is a challenge. BD is sometimes misdiagnosed as schizophrenia and patients are put on long term antipsychotics which later cause depression in patients. This depression is again seen as negative symptom of schizophrenia and psychiatrist prescribe another medication to treat it ultimately leaving patients with no improvement at all. Thus, it is important to diagnose mania. Also, longitudinal and family history becomes important to diagnose BD. Along with patient's less knowledge, convincing patient's caregivers/parents is also a practical challenge.

Early intervention aiming to stop or delay the course of BD is appealing. Expert panel opined that diagnosing and initiating BD intervention early results in fewer relapse rate and overall better clinical prognosis of BD which is in line with the published literature. Opinion from expert panel is as mentioned in below box.

Recommendations for unmet need

- Start treatment with low dose and continuous monitoring. In case where patient's RFT is normal, clinical dose must be according to the patient's weight
- Monotherapy is advisable as polypharmacy leads to subclinical dose treatment
- In case of normal SGPT and creatinine levels sodium valproate at a dose of 20 mg/kg should be administered
- Lithium as nutritional supplement in small doses is being used for the prevention of dementia
- Maintenance treatment with lithium monotherapy was superior to quetiapine for clinical secondary outcome measures of depression, quality of life, work functioning
- The depressive phase of bipolar disorder is associated with suicide attempts and unsuccessful treatment of bipolar depression can cause unnecessary suffering and morbidity like substance abuse
- Quetiapine recommended in bipolar type I and type II depression
- Lurasidone recommended in bipolar type I depression
- Lamotrigine alone recommended in bipolar type II depression, while lamotrigine in combination with lithium recommended in bipolar type I depression

Expert panel opined that bipolar disorders are leading causes of disability in young people as they can lead to cognitive and functional impairment and increased mortality, particularly from suicide and cardiovascular disease.

Further, patients with first-episode of BD present with increased psychosocial function compared with patients with multiple episodes ¹⁵. Expert panel were in favor about the combined clinical and psychosocial interventions on symptomatic and functional recovery, including cognitive functioning. They opined that in acute phase mania and depression, psycho education and psychosocial intervention is very helpful. Expert panel were of opinion that delay of correct diagnosis impacts clinical practice. They opined that in most cases when symptoms are observed, parents or family members do not take it seriously and do not come for regular follow-ups. However, when there are severe manic episodes family members considers the seriousness of the condition. Diagnosis delay is particularly observed with younger age of onset. Expert panel were of the opinion that substance use is one of the comorbidity in BD in younger age group. Younger age patients via surfing internet usually concludes what they are suffering from i.e., they have social anxiety or low mood and treat themselves using cannabis where monitoring dose becomes difficult.

Compliance in bipolar disorder

Treatment adherence is an important factor for managing patients with BD in order to prevent relapses, hospitalizations, and other negative consequences. However, BD is expected to be characterized by high rates of treatment non-adherence ¹⁶. Available evidence suggests that 20-60% of the patients with BD become non-compliant with medication and drop out of treatment ¹⁷.

Table I enlists determinants of medication non-adherence in BD ^{16,18}. In addition to these determinants, in clinical practice expert panel have observed that personality of patient, medication dose, influence of patient's family member or relative, and stigma are the key factors influencing treatment adherence. If the patient presents with a break-through episode, the initial strategy is to check the medication compliance and ensure adequate compliance. If compliance is not an issue, initial strategy is to optimize the mood stabilizer which the patient is already getting.

Recommendations for compliance

- Simple dose regimen increase compliance
- Administration of single dose regimen than multiple dose to increase compliance.
- Psychoeducation is the most important parameter to improve compliance.
- Small size of the tablet preferred for long term compliance
- To reduce misconception, explain the cycle of mania and depression to patients and family
- CBT 8 to 10 sessions required to improve compliance
- Explain patient about importance of medication with examples

Strategies that have been adopted to improve medication adherence include pharmacological and psychological. Adherence in BD often is difficult when patients require a complex medication regimen to control their illness. Literature reports that patients and clinicians may prefer to use once-daily dosing drug formulations, which can pro-

Table I. Determinants of medication non-adherence in BD.

Factors determining medication non-adherence							
Demographic factors	Age, gender, race, education level						
Clinical factors	Duration and severity of illness, BD subtype, comorbidity						
Treatment related factors	Duration and intensity of treatment, medication side effects						
Clinician related factors	Influence of clinician-patient interactions						
System related factors	Health system barriers to gaining access to appropriate care						
Patient centered factors	Attitudes and beliefs regarding medications, knowledge about the illness and its treatment, role of family members, patient satisfaction						

vide consistent serum levels and fewer adverse effects e.g., divalproex extended-release (ER) which showed that 62% patients preferred divalproex ER who were switched from divalproex delayed-release ¹⁹. This is in line with the expert's opinion to use single dose regimen than multiple dose to increase compliance. Similarly, long-acting injectable formulations (LAIs) may be used as maintenance treatment if nonadherence is an issue e.g., risperidone-FDA approved for maintenance treatment of BD-I ²⁰. However, according to Expert panel, LAIs can be given to prevent relapse of BD. Moreover, if one drug is continuously administered it may create insight in illness, which may lead patient to consume mood stabilizers improving compliance. Thus, with LAIs compliance is increased however further literature search is needed.

Psychosocial strategies such as individual and family psychoeducation, cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT), interpersonal and social rhythm therapy (IPSRT), and family focused therapy are used in BD. Expert panel were of opinion that psychoeducation is the most important parameter to improve compliance apart from medication. Furthermore, tablet-related characteristics such as difficulty in swallowing tablets due to shape and size is one wellknown problem among patients which negatively affects their treatment acceptance and preference. Data indicate that less than a quarter of people who have difficulty swallowing their pills discuss the problem with a health professional ²¹. To this point Expert panel agreed that the size of the tablet plays a vital role in improving the long-term adherence in BD patients.

However, according to the Expert panel usually adherence to treatment is seen when patients follow-up regularly and based on their symptoms checked. According to Expert panel treatment adherence scales are time consuming and hence not preferred by them. Moreover, they were of opinion that a structured group (including patients and their care givers) is more beneficial than individual CBT.

Cognitive impairment in bipolar disorder

Cognition refers to thinking skills which includes mental processing speed, attention, learning and memory, and executive skills- known as cognitive domains. Problems in lower cognitive domain such as mental processing speed will impair higher cognitive domains such as attention and executive skills. Cognition is impaired during both mania and depression ²². Expert group opined that during a De-

Recommendations for cognitive impairment

- Clinically mifepristone and lamotrigine have been the best medication as they improve working memory and have cognitive enhancing effects
- Limited use of scales such as SCIP and COBRA for screening cognitive impairment in BD patients in clinical practice
- Implementing functional and remediation techniques for better promising results along with pharmacological treatments

pressive episode, people often experience problems related to paying attention, concentrating, remembering things and solving problems, and during a Manic episode cognition is also affected thoughts may be racing and often change content, while the abilities to judge a situation, pay attention and inhibit impulses are limited.

Several investigative techniques are available for diagnosing cognition in BD such as neuropsychological assessment, laboratory assessment, structural neuroimaging and functional neuroimaging. Cognitive functions can be assessed by asking certain questions to patients pertaining to their cognitive problems in daily life. However, it has been observed that in many cases neurological screening is required as patients with cognitive impairment fails to accurately self-report their impairments ²². Further, Expert panel opined that assessment of cognitive impairment is needed during follow-up to plan personalized cognitive remediation in case of definite cognitive deficiency. There are several cognitive screening tools available such as DSST (Digital Symbol Substation Test), Screen for Cognitive Impairment in Psychiatry (SCIP) and Cognitive Complaints in Bipolar Disorder Rating Assessment (COBRA) which are of limited use in clinical practice. Several lifestyle factors such as poor sleep and diet, physical inactivity, medical illness, consumption of alcohol and recreational drugs and stress have negative impact on cognition and play a key role in identifying and addressing ways to improve cognition in BD patients ²².

Drugs have dopaminergic & glutamate mechanism will have better for cognition impairment in bipolar disorder. Different drugs with potential beneficial effects for the treatment of neurocognitive impairment have been examined such as mifepristone, lamotrigine, lithium and divalproex, venlafaxine and olanzapine. The following are the opinions from the expert group for different drugs: mifepristone (helpful in visual memory not in executive function); galantamine (helpful in verbal only not in executive function); donepezil (not preferred molecule for cognitive impairment treatment and is not used much in clinical practice); vortioxetine (may be used in mood disorder); modafinil (used in clinical practice, but not much experience in terms of its clinical improvement, and often the improvement in attendance is sustaining); lurasidone & pramipexole (have less effect on cognition impairment); and neuroprotective agents (seems promising, but need more substantial data for their usage in clinical practice).

Of all these, according to expert panel clinically mifepristone and lamotrigine have been the best medication as they improve working memory and have cognitive enhancing effects. Further, expert panel believed that lithium and divalproex are also good drugs however; lithium in higher dose can lead to cognitive impairment. Similarly, carbamazepine also exerts difficulty in remembering short and long-term memory in higher dose. According to expert panel' venlafaxine may improve attention; however, nowadays, it is hardly being used in BD. However, there are different strategies used to prevent cognitive impairment such as memory exercise, no multiple activities at time (only need to focus on one activity at a time), omit drugs which can cause cognition impairment, yoga and mindfulness therapy, identification of comorbidity, gamification for 20 minutes to 1 hour to improves cognition, mobile games may improve cognition and cognition enhancing drug.

In addition to pharmacological treatments, psychological treatments also play an integral part for treating cognitive impairment. Functional remediation and cognitive remediation are two remediation techniques used popularly and have shown promising results. Expert panel believed that remediation techniques help in memory exercise and stimulating brain. Expert panel opined that noninvasive brain stimulation techniques such as transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), deep transcranial magnetic stimulation (DTMS) and transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) have been neglected in the studies and were in the favor of using them. Further, according to Expert panel repetitive TMS has shown few side effects in BD patients however, it is very much useful in patients with resistant depression. Also, when rTMS is used with mood stabilizers it acts as a temporary cognitive enhancing agent.

Expert panel opines that the clinical benefit of mindfulness based cognitive therapy (MBCT), particularly through increasing the ability to maintain focus over longer periods of time, in cognitive impairment is not clear and needs further research. Further, psychiatrist believe that along with medication, physical exercise, adequate rest, avoiding concomitant medications that interfere with cognitive function, and promoting healthy habits helps managing cognitive impairment in BD patients.

Substance use disorder in bipolar disorder

Lifetime prevalence of substance use disorders (SUDs) is higher in BD than in any other psychiatric disorder, including unipolar depression. Prevalence rate of SUDs in literature ranges from 20%- 70% in patients with BD and contribute to high rates of disability, morbidity, and treatment non-adherence ²³. Various types of SUDs associated with BD includes alcohol, cannabis, tobacco, opioids and benzodiazepines. Across few studies reviewed, alcohol use is associated with a prevalence rate of 42%, cannabis 20%, and other illicit drug associated with a prevalence rate of 17% ²⁴. According to Expert panel, clinically around 30-60% of SUD is observed in BD patients in India and it depends on the type of substance used. Also rates of SUD ranges from 14% to 65% in inpatient and outpatient

Recommendations for SUD

- Prevalence of substance use disorder in BD patients depends on the type of substance used
- Same diagnostic criteria must be developed for BD and SUD
- · Both SUD and BD should be treated simultaneously
- First choice of drug is lithium followed by sodium valproate and oxcarbazepine

treatment setting among Indian patients. The Expert panel observed that excessive cannabis use was associated with an earlier onset of BD after adjusting for possible confounders while excessive alcohol users had a later onset of BD. Further, panel opined that if patient experiences mania he may start drinking beer for alerting his mind. Expert panel believe that BD and substance abuse is bidirectional, sometimes it may be that substance itself may precipitate BD symptom or because of bipolarity, substance use increases.

The expert panel opined that BD in SUD exhibited significantly poorer performance than BD without SUD in visual memory and conceptual reasoning/set-shifting. Expert panel were of opinion that there is dire need to treat SUD in BD as misuse of substance concurrently with serious mental illness like BD can give manic or depressive episode and opined that both the conditions need to be treated simultaneously. Further, in manic episode, patients have tendency for high risk behaviors, like performing unpredicted sex and sharing of needles while using heroine. Therefore, a normal or depressed person will not do unpredicted sex but under the influence of drugs they may indulge in unpredicted sexual activities, whereas the fact is it's not.

Moreover as reported in literature, comorbid alcohol and substance use can precipitate an episode, increase the frequency of episode, may be associated with rapid cycling affective disorder (RCAD), higher risk for suicide, poor response to treatment, longer time to achieve remission, can influence the choice of medication, and can lead to higher vulnerability for side effects ¹⁷.

Pharmacotherapy along with psychological interventions may be helpful in management of comorbidity. The sequential selection of drug for SUD in BD is usually oxcarbazepine in higher doses, valproate and topiramate (given after evaluation of RFT in patient). The number of episodes can be managed by administering the patient with mood stabilizers such as valproate, carbamazepine, withdrawal management, psychoeducation, family involvement and CBT. The stable phase of BD can be managed with the aid of life charts, motivational interviewing, integrated therapy, self-help groups, IPSRT, mood stabilizers and relapse prevention medications. Expert panel were of the opinion that first choice would be lithium followed by sodium valproate (if liver function test is normal) and oxcarbazepine (if liver function test is not normal). Drugs such as naltrexone hydrochloride, acamprosate, citicoline are used in case of alcohol use disorder. The other pharmacological therapy preferred for treatment includes antipsychotics, quetiapine, lurasidone, olanzapine + fluoxetine, active withdrawal drugs such as benzodiazepines, baclofen, carbamazepines, drugs for relapse prevention such as naltrexone, acamporosate and antidepressants. Expert panel opined that fear of the consequences of combining alcohol/illicit substances with mood stabilizers may lead some bipolar patients to be nonadherent to pharmacotherapy.

Obsessive compulsive disorder in bipolar disorder

Obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) is one of the most frequently associated comorbidities in bipolar disorder. The real challenge lies in managing patients with BD-OCD because both mood stabilizing and management of OCD should go hand in hand. Prevalence of OCD may be masked by the presence of manic or depressive symptoms in BD, impact of OCD in BD disability, quality of life, poor functioning, and higher unemployment, episodic course, rapid cycling, frequent hospitalizations ²⁵. The panel opined that "stepwise" approach should be used when selecting primary mood-stabilizer treatments as well as when considering concomitant use of pharmacological or psychological treatment. Highest prevalence of OCD in BD is documented in studies of remitted patients.

The first line agents preferred for treatment of OCD-BD are combinations of lithium/divalproex+ risperidone, lithium or divalproex + olanzapine, lithium/divalproex + quetiapine. The second line agents preferred are carbamazepine, ECT, lithium or divalproex/asenapine²⁵. Valproate is useful in the treating an SRI intolerant OCD and clozapine-induced OCS. In remitted cases of BD, clinicians will be hesitant to start a SSRI because of high propensity of SSRI to induce mood instability. Mood stabilizer along with olanzapine - SSRI/clomipramine combination is also helpful ²⁵. Lithium though used in management of OCD, evidence has been not yet established. Psychological interventions have become an integral part of treatment in OCD. Meta analyses of cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) in OCD have shown it to be effective.

Discussion

Given that BD is a major psychiatric illness and about 0.5% of patients suffer from it in India, there is a need to understand clinical practice pattern of expert panel across India with regards to diagnostic assessment and therapeutic intervention on compliance, cognitive impairment and comorbid substance use disorder in bipolar disorder to meet with unmet clinical needs. The long-term course of bipolar disorder is highly variable, associated with both interindividual variation and heterogeneity between patients ⁸.

Early intervention in bipolar disorders has not received comparable attention, despite a need for early intervention treatment strategies. Very little attention has been paid to studying the effects of early intervention in patients with either a genetic susceptibility to BD or with attenuated symptoms of this disorder. Further, patients often experience several years of depressive symptoms or full-blown depressive episodes before their first episode of mania or hypomania ²⁶. Many patients experience a significant delay between the onset of their first symptoms and their diagnosis with bipolar disorder. One study indicated that only 53% of patients were correctly diagnosed with bipolar disorder in the first year, while in the remaining patients it took an average of 7.5 years until a correct diagnosis was

made ²⁷. This delay in diagnosis leads to delay in treatment. It has been observed that delayed treatment initiation is linked with an adverse impact on many clinical variables, including poorer social adjustment, more hospitalizations, increased risk of suicide, increased rates of comorbidities (particularly, substance abuse), forensic complications resulting from committing felonies while unwell, and impairment in age-specific developmental task ²⁸.Therefore early intervention for BD is potentially useful strategy however, it warrants further investigation.

Neurocognitive deficits seem to be present not only in the early course of the illness but also in premorbid stages before illness onset ²⁹. Although the cognitive impairments found in persons with BD are often subtle, improving neuropsychological processing may dramatically improve psychosocial functioning in these patients. It would seem beneficial to consider neuropsychological functioning when developing long-term care plans for individuals with bipolar disorder ³⁰.

Effect of SUDs on bipolar disorder is substantial with a negative impact on symptom presentation, manifestations, course, and treatment adherence and thus SUD and BD need to be treated concurrently.

In conclusion, BD is a major public health problem complicated by high comorbidity and poor health outcomes leading to significant mortality risk, thereby making the primary care physicians and psychiatrist's role vital in improving quality of life. Early recognition and treatment improves outcome. A number of pharmacological treatments such as mood stabilizers, antidepressants, antipsychotics and non-pharmacological treatments such psychotherapy and psycho education are available as acute and maintenance treatments, with the idea of achieving reduced symptoms and enhanced functioning in BD patients. Awareness of patients and family caregivers about disease burden, diagnostic issues, manage ment choices, treatment nonadherence and effectiveness of early intervention can reduce complications and enhance outcomes in substantial proportion of patients.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the following expert panel members for contributing their valuable inputs toward the development of this consensus document:

Abhinav Pandey, Alok Patra, Anurag Agarwal, Arnab Benerjee, Ashfaq Ansari, Ajay Dogra, Abir Mukherjee, A.Q.Jilani, Aziz Ahmed Quai, BSV Prasad, Devasish Konar, Dhananjay Ashturkar, Ninad Baste, G. Prasad Rao, Gautam Saha, Gorav Gupta, Hansal Bhachech, Harsh Saini, Harjeet Singh, I Pala, Jagadish, Jayanta Das, Jayaprakash K.K, Kalayansundaram, Karthikeyan M, Kaushik Gupte, Kishor Mavani, Kushal Jain, Manish Nigam, Mahesh Gowda, Muthu Krishnan, Natu Patel, Nilesh Bhaiya, Ninad Baste, P Kishan, P.S Das, Palaniappan, P L Narayana, Phani Bhushan, P M Chougule, Prabir Paul, Praveen Kumar Chintapanti, Preethi, Prashant Shukla, Pratheesh P.J., Pritish Bhowmik, Purav Midha, Rana Ghosh Roy, Ramanujam, Rajena Aggrawal, Rashmin Achalia, Rajesh Maniar, Rohit Garg, Rohan Jahagirdar, Sanjay Raj, Satish Ramaiah, Satyabrata Dash, Sabyasachi Mitra, Sameer Malhotra, Sandeep Parkhi, Sachin, S A Basir, Satish Joshi, Shivananda Manohar, S.K. Verma, Shrirang Solunkhe, Shashwat Saxena, Shashi Rai, Shiv Gautam, Shyamal Chakraborty, Suresh Kumar, Sunil Panwar, Thiruvikram, T.S. Sathyanarayana Rao, Uday Kumar, Vasudev Paralikar, Vimal Kumar, Vipul Malhotra, Vijay Nagecha, V.K. Aravind, Vikas Thanvi, Y. Sanjay.

pharmEDGE has provided medical writing assistance for the manuscript.

References

- ¹ Nimh.nih.gov [Internet]. Bipolar disorder. [updated 2016 April; cited 2019 April 01]. Available from: https://www.nimh.nih.gov/ health/topics/bipolardisorder /index.shtml
- ² Valente SM, Kennedy BL. End the bipolar tug-of-war. Nurse Practitioner 2010;35:36-45.
- ³ Ourworldindata.org [Internet]. Mental Health. [cited 2019 April 01]. Available from https://ourworldindata.org/mental-health.
- ⁴ Murthy RS. National mental health survey of India 2015-2016. Indian J Psychiatry 2017;59:21-26.
- ⁵ Judd LL, Akiskal HS, Schettler PJ, et al. The long-term natural history of the weekly symptomatic status of bipolar I disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2002;59:530-537.
- ⁶ Jann MW. Diagnosis and Treatment of Bipolar Disorders in Adults: a review of the evidence on pharmacologic treatments. Am Health Drug Benefits 2014;7:489-499.
- ⁷ McCormick U, Murray B, McNew B. Diagnosis and treatment of patients with bipolar disorder: A review for advanced practice nurses. J Am Assoc Nurse Pract 2015;27:530-542.
- ⁸ Bauer M, Andreassen OA, Geddes JR, et al. Areas of uncertainties and unmet needs in bipolar disorders: Clinical and research perspectives. Lancet Psychiatry 2018;5:930-939.
- ⁹ Parikh SV, LeBlanc SR, Ovanessian MM. Advancing bipolar disorder: key lessons from the systematic treatment enhancement program for bipolar disorder (STEP-BD). Can J Psychiatry 2010;55:136-143.
- ¹⁰ Castle D, White C, Chamberlain J, et al. Group-based psychosocial intervention for bipolar disorder: randomised controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry 2010;196:383-388.
- ¹¹ Sullivan AE, Miklowitz DJ. Family functioning among adolescents with bipolar disorder. J Fam Psychol 2010;24:60-67.
- ¹² Morriss RK, Faizal MA, Jones AP, et al. Interventions for helping people recognise early signs of recurrence in bipolar disorder. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2007;2007(1):CD004854.
- ¹³ Hafeman DM, Merranko J, Axelson D, et al. Toward the definition f a bipolar prodrome: Dimensional predictors of bipolar spectrum disorders in at-risk youths. Am J Psychiatry 2016;173:695-704.
- ¹⁴ Duffy A, Vandeleur C, Heffer N, et al. The clinical trajectory of emerging bipolar disorder among the high-risk offspring of bipolar parents: Current understanding and future considerations. Int J Bipolar Disord 2017;5:37.

- ¹⁵ Rosa AR, Gonzalez-Ortega I, Gonzalez-Pinto A, et al. One-year psychosocial functioning in patients in the early vs late stage of bipolar disorder. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2012;125:335-341.
- ¹⁶ Chakrabarti S. Medication non-adherence in bipolar disorder: Review of rates, demographic and clinical predictors. World J Meta-Anal 2017;5:103-123.
- ¹⁷ Shah N, Grover S, Rao GP. Clinical practice guidelines for management of bipolar disorder. Indian J Psychiatry 2017;59:51-66.
- ¹⁸ Chakrabarti S. Treatment-adherence in bipolar disorder: a patient-centred approach. World J Psychiatr 2016;6:399-409.
- ¹⁹ Minirth FB, Neal V. Assessment of patient preference and side effects in patients switched from divalproex sodium delayed release to divalproex sodium extended release. J Clin Psychopharmacol 2005;25:99-101.
- ²⁰ Han C, Lee MS, Pae CU, et al. Usefulness of long-acting injectable risperidone during 12-month maintenance therapy of bipolar disorder. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2007;31:1219-1223.
- ²¹ Harris Interactive Inc. Pill-Swallowing Problems in America: a National Survey of Adults. New York, NY: Harris Interactive Inc. for Schwarz Pharma 2003, pp. 1-39.
- ²² Isbd.org [Internet]. Cognition in bipolar disorder. [cited 2019 April 01]. Available from: http://www.isbd.org/Files/Admin/ Cognition-Booklet.pdf
- ²³ Gold AK, Otto MW, Deckersbach T, et al. Substance use comorbidity in bipolar disorder: a qualitative review of treatment strategies and outcomes. Am J Addict 2018;27:188-201.
- ²⁴ Hunt GE, Malhi GS, Cleary M, et al. Prevalence of comorbid bipolar and substance use disorders in clinical settings, 1990-2015: Systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord 2016;206:331-349.
- ²⁵ Kazhungil F, Mohandas E. Management of obsessive-compulsive disorder comorbid with bipolar disorder. Indian J Psychiatry 2016;58:259-269.
- ²⁶ Scott J, Meyer TD. Editorial: prospects for early intervention in bipolar disorders. Early Int Psychiatry 2007;1:111-113.
- ²⁷ Berk M, Hallam K, Lucas N, et al. Early intervention in bipolar disorders: opportunities and pitfalls. Med J Aust 2007;187:S11-S14.
- ²⁸ Buckley PF, Foster AE, Patel NC, et al. Adherence and the societal burden of mental illness. In: Lieberman JA, executive series editor. Adherence to mental health treatment. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 2009, pp. 1-10, 53-69.
- ²⁹ Sole B, Jimenez E, Torrent C, et al. Cognitive impairment in bipolar disorder: Treatment and prevention strategies. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 2017;20:670-680.
- ³⁰ Glahn DC, Velligan DI. Cognitive impairment in patients with bipolar disorder: effect on psychosocial functioning. Psychiatric Times 2007;24:26.
- ³¹ Salloum IM, Brown ES. Management of comorbid bipolar disorder and substance use disorders. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse 2017;43:366-76.

Appendix 1. Research Questions Discussed During Focus Group Sessions

Uncertainties & unmet needs in bipolar disorder

How do we improve identification of at-risk bipolar disorder populations?

What are the clinical benefits of early intervention?

What are the effects of combined clinical and psychosocial interventions on symptomatic and functional recovery, including cognitive functioning?

Do you feel that delay of correct diagnosis impact clinical practice?

Is delay in diagnosis a particular problem in patients with younger age of onset?

Digital Platforms for BPD?

Compliance

What are the brief interventions which can increase treatment adherence?

Cognitive impairment in bipolar disorder

In your clinical practice, how do you diagnose the patients with cognitive impairment in bipolar disorder (BD)?

What are the factors influencing cognitive function?

In your clinical practice, how do you manage patients with cognitive impairment in bipolar disorder?

How does medication affect patient's cognition?

Different ways to overcome cognitive difficulties

What are the promising pharmacological treatments?

What are the promising psychological treatments?

What are the non-pharmacological treatments?

What can be other approaches to prevent cognitive impairment in bipolar disorder?

Substance use disorder (SUD) in bipolar disorder

Is there any clinical significance of substance use disorder in bipolar disorder?

Do you feel there is a need to treat substance use disorder in bipolar disorder patients?

In your clinical practice, what are the diagnostic criteria that you follow to identify patients with substance use disorder in bipolar disorder?

In your clinical practice, how do you manage patients with substance use disorder in bipolar disorder?

What do you believe are the medications which can treat different aspects of the treatment process?

Evidence based Psychiatric Care

Journal of the Italian Society of Psychiatry

Performance evaluation in the Departments of Mental Health: the implementation of a multidimensional directional dashboard in the Department of the Bari Local Health Authority

Valeria Latorre¹, Carmela N. De Sario¹, Daniela Scaltrito¹, Marta Abruzzese¹, Giovanni Carrieri¹, Maria G. Casulli¹, Anna Cicorella¹, Mario Lopez¹, Madia Lozupone¹, Raimondo Marinaro¹, Raffaele Martino¹, Donato Maselli¹, Concettina A.G. Mazzilli¹, Andrea Piarulli¹, Rosa Taratufolo¹, Mario Cisternino², Domenico Semisa¹

¹ Dipartimento di Salute Mentale, ASL Bari; ² UO Analisi del Sistema Informatico, ASL Bari





Valeria Latorre

Summary

Background. Performance management is a central topic for the health care sector, not just at the corporate level but also for each organizational unit. Clinical directorates, healthcare districts, and clinical units must develop performance management systems and tools based on their peculiar needs of data and information to support middle managers' decisions and orient clinicians' behaviors. Mental Health is a sector characterized by a series of peculiarities that make it unique compared to other medical disciplines. Also, in this sector, there are some literature attempts to build performance management tools able to help overcome specific critical issues and encourage the continuous creation of value. This research aims to implement in the Departments of Mental Health (DMHs) a multidimensional dashboard for performance evaluation.

Methods. We considered a complete recent dashboard, present in the literature since 2016, whose implementation is still not proved. We discussed and analyzed the dashboard implementation within a working group. We implemented the dashboard on the company intranet. We tested it in last quarter of 2019.

Results. In 12 months, the dashboard has been adapted and contextualized to the DMH of Bari in Italy and data collection has been carried out. The implementation of the dashboard was straightforward and the tool was very versatile. **Conclusions.** The implementation of the tool in the Italian DMHs could encourage benchmarking techniques that aim to highlight the effectiveness of high-level strategies to encourage the implementation of virtuous procedures for the continuous creation of value.

Key words: performance management, multidimensional dashboard, Department of mental health, performance indicators.

Introduction

The topic of performance measurement today has also become central for healthcare companies. In fact, at a time characterized by a lack of resources in the face of growing needs, it becomes essential to apply management How to cite this article: Latorre V, De Sario CN, Scaltrito D, et al Performance Evaluation in the Departments of Mental Health: the implementation of a multidimensional directional dashboard in the Department of the Bari Local Health Authority. Evidence-based Psychiatric Care 2021;7:15-22. https:// doi.org/10.36180/2421-4469-2021-4

Correspondence:

Valeria Latorre valeria.latorre@asl.bari.it

Conflict of interest The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en



© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl

tools and principles that allow to increase guality, reduce costs, make fewer mistakes 1 and focus on continuous value creation. In this perspective, the tools of Performance Management (PM) become fundamental. The PM is understood as a continuous process of identification. measurement, and development of the performance of individuals and groups and the alignment of such performance with the strategic objectives of the organization ². At the basis of the PM is the concept of measurement, closely interconnected with the concept of knowledge of complex transformation processes, at the basis of the use of the resources themselves. The measurement of what is done allows organizations ³ to have a direct perception of what is problematic in their performance, to activate change, and to reduce the tendency to satisficing ^{4,5}. Mental Health, like other medical disciplines, has made attempts to apply the tools of the PM, albeit in a leopard's eye, not overcoming some critical issues that characterize its managerial aspect 6. Mental Health, in fact, compared to all other medical disciplines, represents a series of peculiarities.

- It was one of the first sectors of the Italian National Health Service (NHS) that had the courage to start a real process of deinstitutionalization. In fact, it has shifted the focus of assistance from acute hospital units to territorial services ⁷. This shift has become a symbol of professional prestige for Mental Health.
- 2. It has been able to build a chain of services with differential specialist intensity, characterized by a varied mix of clinic, rehabilitation, social inclusion. This organization has been able to reconstruct distinct care settings, which represent natural steps of a possible path for patients ⁸.
- 3. It has been able to build a network of relevant relationships for integrated care and rehabilitation paths with other actors of the welfare system ⁹.
- 4. It has adopted a holistic approach to patients, integrating the clinical dimension with the psychological, social, occupational dimension ¹⁰. Moreover, in line with what was proposed by WHO ¹¹, it is the only medical discipline that has set as a global goal the recovery ¹² and the promotion of personal well-being.
- 5. Finally, Mental Health has always been confronted with the dimension of chronicity and the global and permanent care of the patient ¹³. In doing so, it involves a varied skill mix of professionals characterized by doctors, nurses, psychologists, educators, rehabilitators and social workers, trying to build interoperable languages and procedures within the DMH.

These characteristics, which make psychiatry unique, are coupled with several issues:

- the departmentalization, understood as autonomy from the other parts of the health service, sanctioned by the law 833 establishing the NHS14, has been exasperated as a foundation for the creation of a stronger professional identity;
- 2. the departmentalization has not gone hand in hand with

the essential need for comparison and integration with other sectors of the NHS (i.e., primary care, services for the disabled, for the elderly);

- the excessively divisionalized culture has led to simple logistical support between related services such as those for pathological addictions and child neuropsychiatry;
- 4. finally, the DMH, which was the first to deal with chronicity, integration, and articulation of care settings with variable intensity, developmental trajectories of all current health services ¹⁵, is almost absent in the shared evolution of services, in the inter-sectoral integration of pathways, in the mutual professional contamination;
- 5. moreover, the very DMH that first dealt with a holistic approach and professional integration is perceived by other medical disciplines as an isolated and closed environment;
- 6. all this is indeed corroborated by the difficulty of developing shared metrics and measuring outcomes, understood as a difficulty in the culture of measurement ⁶.

This fragmentation has contributed to feeding the stigma and has undermined in the long run the establishment of a trustworthy professional identity. Moreover, it has had consequences on the concept of professional responsibility contributing to the heterogeneity of approaches, including management at the level of individual Italian DMH. In this scenario, the measurement of inputs is essential. But it is more important to measure the transformation processes, traditionally considered as a black box. Investigating the processes that take place within this black box, which are the basis of value creation, can be useful to an open comparison between different systems. Making inter-company and interdepartmental metrics explicit and homogeneous can therefore be a great contribution to the professional community and for the Italian DMHs ¹⁶. From this comparison, it will be possible to identify virtuous realities and winning paths ¹⁷. This allows management to use data for a better allocation of resources, to evaluate coverage and demand rates and to identify the best management strategies in an era of scarce resources ¹⁸. This approach requires a standard (i.e., applicable in all the DMHs) and easy-to-use tool that allows the comparison between the performance of the various DMHs. In 2016 Latorre and collaborators ¹⁹ proposed, on the basis of a well-defined methodology ²⁰ and literature data, a dashboard of indicators for the evaluation of performance in Italian DMH. The dashboard is multidimensional and is characterized by 33 indicators organized in three areas (Tab. I). The areas are defined as follows: (i) Context Area that defines the external context in which the hypothetical LHA and DMH insist and work, (ii) Core Area that identifies the main activities of the DMH, and (iii) Organizational Capital Area that refers to the organizational resources of the DMH. The tool represents a complete performance evaluation tool, which has been able to transform the gaps into opportunities ¹⁹.

Table I. The proposed Dashboard (adapted from Latorre et al., 2016).

		Indicator	Formula	Target		
Context						
	Pop	pulation and environment Mental Health profile	9			
	1	Suicide incidence	Number of suicides/year/territorial population	ND		
	2	Rate of Emergency Service accesses for Psychiatric pathology	Number of Emergency Service accesses for Psychiatric pathology/year/territorial population	ND		
	3	Incidence to the services	Number of first visits/year/territorial population	ND		
	4 Prevalence to the services		Number of visits /year	ND		
	5	Rate of patients in care	Number of patients visited at least once with individual project/year/territorial population			
Core						
	Ho	spital Activity/Territorial activity				
	1	Psychiatric Complexity Index in hospitalization	Average DRG weight/year	ND		
2 Relevancy index of hospitalizations			Number of hospitalizations with medical primary diagnosis/total of hospitalizations			
	3	In-hospital mortality Rate	Number of deaths /total of hospitalizations/year	0		
	4	Physical restraint Rate	Number of restraints/number of hospitalizations per year	0		
	5 Index of outpatient clinical activity		Number of outpatient visits per year/ number of patients in care per year			
	6	Hospital activity index	Total of hospitalizations/year	ND		
	7	Domiciliary clinical activity index	Number of home visits/number of patients in care/year	ND		
	Effi	iciency				
	1	Number of hospitalizations longer than 45 days/total hospitalizations	Number of hospitalizations longer than 45 days/total of hospitalizations	0		
	2	Hospital/Territorial services Integration index	Number of protected hospital discharges (with direct activation of territorial services)/total of hospitalizations	1		
	3	Number of hospital discharges with booked outpatient visit within two weeks/Total hospital discharges	Number of hospital discharges with booked outpatient visit within two weeks/Total of hospital discharges	1		
	Effi	icacy				
	1	Involuntary Treatment incidence	Number of Involuntary Treatment/total of hospitalizations/year	0		
	2	Rehospitalization rate	Number of re-hospitalized patients within 30 days from discharge/total of discharges	0		
	3	Patient satisfaction index	Verona Service Satisfaction Scale 20	20		
	Sat	fety				
	1	Incidence of accidents at work	Number of accidents/year	0		
	2	Incidence of emergency calls	Number of emergency calls (or public forces calls)/ number of patients in care/year	0		
	3	Incidence of patients complaints	Number of legal complaints/number of patients in care/ year	0		

(continued)

Although this tool has already been present in the literature for some years, no application cases are known to date. Therefore, the real feasibility of its contextualization in a DMH is not known. Our main objective was to plan and implement the application of the dashboard in the DMH of the Bari Local Health Authority.

Materials and methods

The application of the dashboard was carried out in the DMH of the LHA of Bari. Its implementation was endorsed by the general direction of LHA. A preliminary step was the sharing of the need to use the tool with the company's Strategic Management. This determined the inclusion of

Table I (follows). The proposed Dashboard (adapted from Latorre et al., 2016	he proposed Dashboard (adapted from Latorre et al., 2	2016)
--	---	-------

	Indicator	Formula	Target
rganization	al Capital		
Н	uman resources		
1	DMH staff completion index	Number of DMH operators/expected number of operators	1
2	Equipe completion index	Number of complete equipes/Number of active services	1
3	MHHU staff completion index	Number of MHHU operators/expected number of operators	1
Tr	aining and innovation		
1	Innovation index	Number of DMH research projects/average number of LHA Departments projects per year	1
2	Staff continuous training index	Medium number of formative credits per employee/ Number of formative credits required by law per year	≥ 1
3	IT index	IT assisted services/total of services	1
S	tructural resources		
1	Bed availability index	Beds available/expected beds	1
2	Bed need index	Number of extra-LHA emergency hospitalizations/total of hospitalizations	0
3	Safety index of structural resources	Standards compliant service/Number of services	1

the dashboard implementation process among the exercise objectives assigned by the General Manager for the DMH for the year 2019. The implementation process required the support of the Information Systems Analysis Operating Unit of the LHA.

The DMH of the Bari LHA covers a territory that serves the psychiatric care needs of a population of about 1,300,000 inhabitants. The assistance for acute cases is currently provided by the two Mental Heath Hospital Units (MH-HUs) available on the territory. The territorial assistance for adults is organized by seven territorial areas. In each territorial area, there are different service units.

We organized a specific working group, including at least one referent person for each territorial area and MHHU. The working group was composed of 15 operators, including the coordinator of the DMH Board. The group was composed of 5 psychiatrists, four nurses, one social worker, two psychologists, three educators/psychiatric rehabilitation technicians.

Three methodological steps were followed to implement the dashboard:

- 1. discussion and analysis of the dashboard with the working group and identification of data sources;
- sharing of the dashboard with the Information Systems Analysis Operating Unit and implementation of a platform usable on the company intranet network;
- 3. data entry for the second half of 2019.

During the first step, every single indicator of the dashboard has been analyzed in order to evaluate its contextualization and consider its possible modification. For each indicator we identified both the competence of the survey service (MHHU, DMH, or DMH management) and the source of the data (i.e., medical records, regional IT systems - SISM or Edotto). In this step, each operator was also trained to collect the data from the identified source. This phase required the first two months of the year 2019 for a total of 3 meetings of the group. The meetings were all directed by the coordinator of the DMH Board.

The second phase was completed with the support of the Information Systems Analysis Operating Unit that built a data entry form on the company intranet platform. We evaluated as constraints the restricted access to all the project referents and the real-time data entry.

The third step involved each territorial referent who manually filled the data entry form accessing the database on the company intranet.

Results

The discussion of the dashboard with the working group led to considerations regarding: (i) the identification of the services of relevance for the imputation of data for each indicator, (ii) the sources to be used for the data collection, (iii) the contextualization of the indicators (Tab. II).

Because of missing historical data, we consider data extracted by the literature as target values. The targets for next years will be defined using the results of the analysis of the first year, after discussing and evaluating the margins for improvement.

Regarding the data collection intervals, we decided to feed the dashboard every three months. This timing maps the due communication of activity data by the company macrostructures to the Operational Management Control Unit. We also validated this interval considering: (i) the cost of manual data entry by each operator, (ii) the loss of non-structured data, and (iii) the use of the punctual data

Table II. Dashboard discussion results.

	Indicator	Relevant Service	Source
Context			
F	Population and environment Mental Health profile		
1	1 Suicide incidence	ALL	ISTAT
2	2 Rate of Emergency Service accesses for Psychiatric pathology	ALL	Edotto
3	3 Incidence to the services	Territorial Service	SISM
4	Prevalence to the services	Territorial Service	SISM
Ę	5 Rate of patients in care	Territorial Service	SISM
Core			
H	lospital Activity/Territorial activity		
	1 Psychiatric Complexity Index in hospitalization	MHHU	Edotto
2	2 Relevancy index of hospitalizations	MHHU	Edotto
3	3 In-hospital mortality Rate	MHHU	Medical Records /Edotto
2	4 Physical restraint Rate	MHHU	Medical Records
Ę	5 Index of outpatient clinical activity	Territorial Service	SISM
e	6 Hospital activity index	MHHU	Edotto
7	7 Domiciliary clinical activity index	Territorial Service	SISM
E	fficiency		
1	1 Number of hospitalizations longer than 45 days/total hospitalizations	MHHU	Edotto
2	2 Hospital/Territorial services Integration index	MHHU	Medical Records
3	3 Number of hospital discharges with booked outpatient visit within two weeks/Total hospital discharges	MHHU	Medical Records
E	fficacy		
1	I Involuntary Treatment incidence	Territorial Service	Data according to DGR Puglia
2	2 Rehospitalization rate	MHHU	Edotto
3	3 Patient satisfaction index	MHHU/Territorial Service	VSSS-20 scale
S	Safety		
	1 Incidence of accidents at work	MHHU/Territorial Service	Administrative acts
2	2 Incidence of emergency calls	Territorial Service	Administrative acts
3	3 Incidence of patients complaints	MHHU/Territorial Service	Administrative acts
Organiza	tional Capital		
H	łuman resources		
	1 DMH staff completion index	MHHU/Territorial Service	DMH management acts
2	2 Equipe completion index	Territorial Service	DMH management acts
3	3 MHHU staff completion index	MHHU	DMH management acts
Т	raining and innovation		
	1 Innovation index	Territorial Service/MHHU	DMH management acts
2	2 Staff continuous training index	Territorial Service/MHHU	Agenas
3	3 IT index	Territorial Service/MHHU	PC verified usage
S	Structural resources		
	1 Bed availability index	MHHU	DMH management acts
5	2 Bed need index	MHHU	Edotto

for steering decisions to reach the targets.

The second step regarded the implementation of a data entry form, on the company intranet site, for the 33 indicators of the dashboard. Each operator was provided with the access link to the intranet platform page, to be accessed through personal credentials. Each operator is enabled to enter data only for the territorial area to which s/he belongs. Several queries can be accessed in realtime by the referent of DMH Board (e.g., overall data of the Department, data of a critical territorial area) (Fig. 1). The implementation of the system was completed by the end of 2019.

The data collection revealed a series of critical issues limited to a few indicators, which are reported in Table III.

We were able to test the working dashboard for the last quarter of 2019.

Discussion

In this study, we have shown the steps of the implementation of a multidimensional dashboard of performance indicators for Italian DMHs. The methodology for the implementation of the dashboard at the DMH of LHA Bari included 3 steps. A preliminary step was to include the dashboard implementation process among the operational objectives for the year 2019 for the entire DMH. We found this preliminary step necessary to obtain the support of the Strategic Company Management. Thus, the Department's management and its structures were motivated and responsive to achieve the goal. The establishment of a working group, including different professional figures representing all the units, allowed: (i) to discuss and promote the tool at all professional levels, (ii) and to share the responsibility on training and data collection.

Sistema Aziendale di Rilevazione degli Indicatori

RILEVAZIONE DELLA PERFORMANCE NELL'AMBITO DELLA SALUTE MENTALE

LATORRE*VALERIA [Disconnessione

Home Page Rilevazioni Parametri Indicatori Abilitazioni Informazioni su ...

PARAMETRI DI RIFERIMENTO		
Anno		
2018 🔻		

Tab. 3 - Cruscotto Finale Indicatori area CONTESTO							
Profilo di Salute psichico della popolazione e caratteristiche del contesto							
Indicatore	Parametro	Valore					
Incidenza di suicidi (ISTAT)	Numero dei suicidi nel Periodo	0					
Tasso di ricorsi al P.S. per patologia psichiatrica	Numero di ricorsi al P.S. per patologie psichiatriche nel Periodo	0					
Incidenza al servizio	Numero prime visite nel Periodo	0					
Prevalenza al servizio	Numero di Visite effettuate nel Periodo	0					
Tasso di utenza incarico	Numero Utenti visitati almeno 1 volta con progetto nel Periodo	0					

Tab. 4 - Cruscotto Finale Indicatori area CORE						
Attività Clinica Ospedaliera/Territoriale						
Indicatore	Param	Parametro				
Indice complessità psichiatrica ricovero	Peso m	edi DRG medio nel Periodo	0			
Indice appropriatezza utilizzo SPDC	Numero	o di ricoveri con diagnosi principale medica in SPDC nel Periodo	0			
Tasso di mortalità intraospedaliera	Numero	umero di morti nel Periodo				
Tasso di contenzione	Numero	o di contenzioni nel Periodo	0			
Indice attività clinica ambulatoriale	Numero	o di visite nel Periodo	0			
Indice attività clinica ospedaliera	Numero	o di ricoveri totali nel Periodo	0			
Tasso di attività clinica domiciliare	Numer	o interventi domiciliari Numero utenti in carico nel Periodo	0			
Efficienza			4			
Indicatore		Parametro	Valore			
N, di ricoveri con degenza superiore ai 45 gg/N, totale di ricov	veri	Numero di ricoveri con degenza superiore ai 45 gg nel Periodo	0			

N. di ricoveri con degenza superiore ai 45 gg/N. totale di ricoveri

Numero di ricoveri con degenza superiore ai 45 gg nel Periodo

Figure 1.

Data Entry Form.

 Table III. Indicators with data collection issues.

		Indicator	Issues
Context			
I	Рор	pulation and environment Mental Health profile	
	1	Suicide incidence	Out of date data
	2	Rate of Emergency Service appeals for Psychiatric pathology	Available only in the following semester
Performance			
L	Effic	cacy	
	2	Re-hospitalization rate	It will be obtained by the Region
	3	Patient satisfaction index	Reduced Sample
5	Strı	ictural resources	
	2	Bed need index	Available in the following semester after the end of the current year

The planning of the actions, the contextualization of all the indicators, and the identification of the sources were essential to induce a change in all operators towards the culture of measurement. The members of the working group have naturally become promoters of this tool with their own colleagues.

The step that required more attention from the technological point of view was to bring the dashboard on a mask that could be shared on the network by the contacts of all areas, both for the input of data and for the comparison of their data with those entered by other territorial areas.

The participation and support of the Information Systems Analysis Operating Unit were fundamental for the implementation to grant the use to a shared database on the company intranet and to guarantee a restricted access to protected official data. This official integration allows the unit operator to perceive this tool as part of standard practice.

The persistence of data on the company intranet will allow us to perform comparative analysis over time. The input of data into the dashboard has been followed punctually. The emerging problems were mainly related to the data concerning the first area of the dashboard: the context area. In fact, ISTAT data on the number of suicides are related to past years. Since the publication of the National Mental Health Report 2018 is currently underway, this indicator could be modified in relation to the number of patients with schizophrenia in the region in the last published report. In fact, it is among the diseases that, according to the latest reports, absorbs most of the resources of public services. A further criticality was related to the data of hospital emergency rooms because available on a different IT system. This leads to an objective barrier in obtaining quarterly data because some data are available only six months after the end of the year of interest. The implementation of the dashboard at the regional level and the synchronization of the data directly from the Edotto system and SISM could be not only the most desirable solution but also the solution that most could exploit the usefulness of the tool.

The goal of this paper is to present the process of implementation of the dashboard, not yet the performance results, which are not reported as limited to last quarter of 2019.

Although using data retrieved in only one quarter, the dashboard results led the working group to several considerations for improvements in: (i) how to collect the data, (ii) how to enter it into the database, (iii) best practice to be enforced.

We mention just one observation regarding the restraint index in the two MHHUs. This index, obtained from the ratio between the number of restraint events and the number of total hospitalizations in a given period, generated two very different results in the two cases. In fact, one MHHU obtained an index of 0.49 (34 restraint events out of 69 hospitalizations in the last guarter of 2019), the other one obtained an index of 3.39 (271 restraint events out of 80 hospitalizations in the same time frame). This discrepancy led to a comparison with the restraint procedures in the two hospital services. A focus group, led by an operator, found that the MHHU with a lower number of restraints implemented updated forms, thus more careful monitoring of the number of restraints, with the aim of reducing the events ²¹. Therefore, the working group proposed to DMH Management, in compliance with the recommendations on the prevention of restraint ²², to work on a common, virtuous procedure for the management and monitoring of restraint events. The target for the year 2020 will be to reduce the index by 50% compared to 2019.

Conclusions

We can conclude that the implementation of the dashboard is fairly easy. However, it requires the essential support of the company's Strategic Management, the direct involvement of all DMH structures, and the technological support of the IT units. The dashboard is easy to contextualize. In most cases data can be obtained from the Mental Health Information System, present in every Italian region. In other cases, data can be obtained from the administrative records of each service or from monitoring sheets that respond to national recommendations.

Considering all the peculiarities of Mental Health and the heterogeneity of approaches, including the management of Italian DMHs, we advise a wide implementation of the tool to increase the culture of measurement, allowing comparisons not only at an intra-departmental level, but especially at an inter-departmental level. At an intradepartmental level, historical data could be used to improve performance and strengthen internal cohesion. On the other hand, inter-departmental comparison and discussion could highlight the effectiveness of benchmarking techniques and high-level strategies, in order to encourage the implementation of virtuous procedures for continuous value creation. We believe that peer comparison, exploration and measurement of work processes, that characterize what was once perceived as a black box, can in the long run diminish the fragmentation that characterizes Mental Health even compared to other medical disciplines. This can also strengthen professional identity, contribute to the heterogeneity of approaches with important consequences also on professional liability.

References

- ¹ Deming WE. The New Economics for Industry, Government, Education, Third Edition | The MIT Press [Internet]. MIT press 2018 [cited 2020 Nov 23]. Available from: https://mitpress.mit. edu/books/new-economics-industry-government-educationthird-edition
- ² Aguinis H. Performance management. 2nd ed. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall 2009.
- ³ Lega F. Logiche e strumenti di gestione per processi in sanità. McGraw-Hill 2001.
- ⁴ Prenestini A, Lega F. Do senior management cultures affect performance? Evidence from Italian public healthcare organizations. J Healthc Manag 2013;58:332-336.
- ⁵ Lega F, Prenestini A, Spurgeon P. Is management essential to improving the performance and sustainability of health care systems and organizations? A systematic review and a roadmap for future studies. Value Heal [Internet] 2013 [cited 2020 Nov 23];16(1 Suppl). Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23317645
- ⁶ Tozzi VDT, Pacileo G. Salute mentale in Italia. Sfide e prospettive manageriali nella sanità che cambia. EGEA 2017.
- ⁷ Progetto Obiettivo "Tutela Salute Mentale 1998-2000" [Internet]. [cited 2020 Nov 23]. Available from: www.salute. gov.it/imgs/C_17_pubblicazioni_558_allegato.pdf
- ⁸ Cerati G, Percudani M. Innovazione e miglioramento della qualità dei trattamenti nei Servizi di Salute Mentale. In: La riabilitazione cognitiva della schizofrenia [Internet]. Milano: Springer 2013 [cited 2020 Nov 23]. pp. 219-227. Available from: https://link.springer.com/ chapter/10.1007/978-88-470-2802-9_19
- ⁹ Perino M. Integrazione socio-sanitaria e diritti dei malati psichiatrici. www.cisap.to.it/pubblicazioni/2008/Prospettive_ assistenziali_162_psich.pdf
- ¹⁰ Carozza P. Dalla centralità dei servizi alla centralità della persona. L'esperienza di cambiamento di un Dipartimento di

Salute Mentale [Internet]. Franco Angeli 2014 [cited 2020 Nov 23]. Available from: www.ibs.it/dalla-centralita-dei-servizi-alla-libro-paola-carozza/e/9788891708601

- ¹¹ Definitions [Internet]. [cited 2020 Nov 23]. Available from: www.who.int/about/who-we-are/constitution
- ¹² Carozza P. Principi di riabilitazione psichiatrica: per un sistema di servizi orientato alla guarigione [Internet]. Franco Angeli. 2006 [cited 2020 Nov 23]. Available from: www. libreriacortinamilano.it/scheda-libro/paola-carozza/principidi-riabilitazione-psichiatrica-9788846471932-17040.html
- ¹³ D'Avanzo B, Maone A. Recovery Nuovi paradigmi per la salute mentale [Internet]. Raffaello Cortina Editore 2015 [cited 2020 Nov 23]. Available from: www.raffaellocortina.it/ scheda-libro/autori-vari/recovery-9788860307262-1597.html
- ¹⁴ Legge 23 dicembre 1978, n. 833 [Internet]. Gazzetta ufficiale. 1978 [cited 2020 Nov 23]. Available from: www. gazzettaufficiale.it/eli/id/1978/12/28/078U0833/sg
- ¹⁵ Aguglia E, Ferrannini L. L'assistenza psichiatrica in Italia: priorità azioni e modelli organizzativi regionali. Quad Ital di Psichiatr 2012;XXXI:1-2.
- ¹⁶ Magnani N, Cardamone G, Starace F. Salute Mentale e Servizio pubblico: riflessioni condotte nell'ambito del recente convegno SIEP. Nuova Rassegna di Studi Psichiatrici 2017;15.
- ¹⁷ Starace F, Baccari F, Mungai F, a cura di. La salute mentale in Italia. Analisi delle strutture e delle attività di Dipartimenti di Salute Mentale. Quad di Epidemiol Psichiatr [Internet] 2017 [cited 2020 Nov 23]; Available from: https://mappeser. com/2018/06/07/la-salute-mentale-in-italia-analisi-dellestrutture-e-delle-attivita-di-dipartimenti-di-salute-mentalea-cura-di-f-starace-f-baccari-f-mungai-in-quaderni-diepidemiologia-psichiatrica-n-1-20/
- ¹⁸ Di Munzio W. Lineamenti di management in psichiatria. Riorganizzazione e rilancio dei servizi di salute mentale Idelson-Gnocchi 2019 [cited 2020 Nov 23]. Available from: www.libraccio.it/libro/9788879477055/walter-di-munzio/ lineamenti-di-management-in-psichiatria-riorganizzazione-erilancio-dei-servizi-di-salute-mentale.html?tipo=nuovo&lgw_ code=1115-B9788879477055&gclid=CjwKCAiA2O39BRBjEiw ApB2lkms4ro-5BSbSOTaJRAUPI71Q78vaC2DbVybk08k3v2 Mh85VLBT4uphoCzWYQAvD_BwE
- ¹⁹ Latorre V, Semisa D, Prenestini A. II Performance Management nei Dipartimenti di Salute Mentale (DSM): proposta di un cruscotto multidimensionale e prospettive di implementazione [Internet]. Mecosan: management ed economia sanitaria. Milano: Franco Angeli 2016, vo. 97, pp. 71-89. Available from: http://digital.casalini.it/3141298
- ²⁰ Carbone C, Lecci F, Lega F, et al. Misurare per creare valore nelle aziende sanitarie pubbliche: uno strumento multidimensionale per la valutazione delle performance. 2013.
- ²¹ Di Lorenzo R, Baraldi S, Ferrara M, et al. Physical Restraints in an Italian Psychiatric Ward: Clinical Reasons and Staff Organization Problems. Perspect Psychiatr Care [Internet] 2012;48:95-107. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6163.2011.00308.x
- ²² Contenzione fisica in Psichiatria, una strategia possibile di prevenzione. [Internet] 2010 [cited 2020 Nov 23]. Available from: www.regioni.it/conferenze/2010/08/02/doc-approvatopsichiatria-contenzione-fisica-una-strategia-per-laprevenzione-104535/

Evidence based Psychiatric Care

Journal of the Italian Society of Psychiatry

Updates in treating major depressive disorder in the elderly: a systematic review

Mario Amore^{1,2}, Andrea Aguglia^{1,2}, Gianluca Serafini^{1,2}, Andrea Amerio^{1,2,3}

¹Department of Neuroscience, Rehabilitation, Ophthalmology, Genetics, Maternal and Child Health (DINOGMI), Section of Psychiatry, University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy; ² IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Genoa, Italy; ³Department of Psychiatry, Tufts University, Boston, USA

Summary

Among mental disorders, late life depression occurs in 7% of the general older population.

An updated systematic review of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) on pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatment of major depressive disorder (MDD) in the elderly was conducted.

Eight RCTs were carried out on 663 patients (mean age 70.99, SD 6.73). Vortioxetine (p = 0.897), saffron (η^2 = 0.008) and tianeptine (p = 0.32) reduced depressive symptoms in MDD older adults, although no significant differences in their efficacy were found when compared to sertraline and escitalopram, respectively. Focusing on adverse events, in comparison with sertraline, vortioxetine did not show any significantly difference, while saffron was associated to less neurological disorders (RR 0.13, 95% CI 0.17-0.93, p = 0.02). Neurological (RR 0.46, 95% CI 0.3-0.71, p = 0.000) and gastrointestinal (RR 0.54, 95% CI 0.31-0.96, p = 0.04) disorders were also less common in patients under tianeptine compared to escitalopram.

Although significant effects for some pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions in older patients, the overall MDD evidence is still scant and more studies are needed in this vulnerable segment of population.

Key words: elderly, major depressive disorder, treatment

Introduction

The world's population is ageing rapidly. As reported by the World Health Organization (WHO), between 2015 and 2050, the proportion of the world's older adults is estimated to almost double from about 12% to 22% ¹. Older adults make important contributions to society as family members, volunteers and as active participants in the workforce. The protection of the physical and mental health status of this vulnerable segment of population needs to be recognized as a real public health priority ².

Among mental disorders, late life depression occurs in 7% of the general older population and accounts for 5.7% of Years Lived with Disability (YLDs) among those over 60 years old 1. Diagnosing depression in older adults can be more difficult than in young people because of physical comorbidities and cognitive dysfunction ^{3,4}. Depressive symptoms are often overlooked and untreated and they are accompanied by poorer functioning compared to chronic medical conditions ^{5,6}. Moreover, depression can increase the perception of poor health, the utilization of health care services and costs, as well as the burden on their families and caregivers ⁷.

There is no single preferred intervention for depression in older adults, and a wide variety of treatments can be used ⁸. Findings from a systematic re-





Mario Amore

How to cite this article: Amore M,

Aguglia A, Serafini G, et al. Updates in treating major depressive disorder in the elderly: a systematic review. Evidence-based Psychiatric Care 2021;7:23-31. https://doi.org/10.36180/2421-4469-2021-5

Correspondence:

Mario Amore mario.amore@unige.it

Conflict of interest

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

Fundings

This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial or not-for-profit sectors.

Author contributions

The manuscript has been approved by all authors. Studies were identified and independently reviewed for eligibility by the two authors (Amerio, Aguglia) in a twostep based process. Data were extracted by one author (Amerio) and supervised by a second author (Serafini) using an ad-hoc developed data extraction spreadsheet. Our manuscript has been approved by all authors.

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en



© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl

view conducted in 2017 by Krause and colleagues on randomized controlled trials (RCTs) revealed several antidepressants and quetiapine to be efficacious in elderly patients with major depressive disorder (MDD), but due to the comparably few available data, results were not robust ⁹. Moreover, although significant effects were found for some non-pharmacological treatments, the overall evidence was insufficient, because of based on a few trials with small sample sizes ¹⁰.

Aim of the study

We updated Krause and colleagues' systematic review of all RCTs on pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatment of MDD in the elderly to provide recommendations for clinical management and future research.

Methods

Information sources and search strategy

This systematic review was conducted according to methods recommended by the Cochrane Collaboration and the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines ^{11,12}. Studies were identified searching the electronic databases MEDLINE, Embase, PyscInfo, CINAHL, ClinicalTrials.gov, Web of Science, and the Cochrane Library. We combined free text terms and MeSH heading as described in Appendix 1. As done before ^{13,14}, the strategy was first developed in MED-LINE and then adapted for use in the other databases. Studies in English published from December 12th, 2017 to January 1st, 2021 were included. In addition, further studies were retrieved from reference listing of relevant articles and consultation with experts in the field.

Study population and study designs

We searched for RCTs carried out in elderly patients with a primary diagnosis of major depressive disorder. The diagnosis was made according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM) criteria for major depressive disorder, or the International Statistical Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) criteria for recurrent depressive disorder. Studies using other diagnostic criteria were excluded. However, as done previously ⁹, given the variety of depressive forms, studies were accepted if less than 20% of population had another form of depression. Studies of relapse prevention carried out in non-acute patients were excluded.

Interventions

Pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions, such as psychotherapy and physical activity, were included. Active controls were allowed as well as placebo. Due to either scarce clinical relevance for the elderly and the risk of confounding factors, we excluded studies of combination therapy.

Outcomes

The number of patients responding to treatment was the main outcome, defined as a score reduction of at least 50% from baseline to endpoint or follow-up on a validated scale. In addition, remission of symptoms was defined as: 7 or less on the 17-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS); 8 or less for longer versions of HDRS; 6 or less on the Montgomery-Asberg-Depression Scale (MADRS); 10 or less on the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI); 5 or less on the Geriatric Depression scale (GDS). The mean reduction of depressive symptoms from baseline to the endpoint was also investigated. Moreover, the incidence and main causes of adverse events were included as outcomes of primary interest, as well as dropouts, deaths, and suicides.

Study selection and data extraction

Identified studies were independently reviewed for eligibility by the two authors (MA, AA) in a two-step process: a first screening was performed based on titles and abstracts, then full texts were retrieved for a second screening. Disagreement was resolved by consensus. Data were extracted using an ad-hoc developed data extraction spreadsheet.

Data items

Information was extracted from each included study on: 1) study design, time and country of intervention, sample size, study arms; 2) age, sex and comorbidities of participants; 3) type, name, dose and duration of interventions and controls; 4) name of rating scales, baseline and completion mean rating scores in study groups, Relative Risks (RRs) of response to treatment and symptom remission; 5) frequencies and descriptions of adverse events and dropouts.

Quality assessment

The revised Cochrane risk of bias tool for randomized trials (RoB 2) was used to assess the risk of bias in individual studies ¹⁵.

Results

Study selection

Six hundred eighty potential studies were identified from the selected databases and after cross-checking references of relevant articles. Five hundred ninety-five studies were retrieved after duplicate removal. Studies were screened and selected as described in Figure 1. Eight RCTs were included in the systematic review.

Study characteristics and populations

Characteristics of included studies are reported in Table I. All the studies were RCTs and half were double-blind-



* Search strategy limited from December 12th, 2017 to January 1st, 2021, English language, human subjects, aged 65 or more.

Figure 1. Flow diagram of selected articles.

ed ¹⁶⁻¹⁹. All the trials were two-armed except for one threearmed RCT ¹⁸. The study sample sizes ranged from 20 to 311 patients, with a total sample size of 663.

Three studies (37.5%) were carried out in North America 19-21, two (25%) in the Middle East 16,17, one (12.5%) in Asia ²² and one in Europe ²³. The remaining trial was conducted in different centers of Europe, Asia, and America ¹⁸. The mean age ranged from 68.85 ± 6.16 to $88.3 \pm 5.3^{20,23}$. The combined mean age of the review was 70.99 ± 6.73 . One trial was entirely carried out on men 23. The rate of females in the remaining studies ranged from 30% ¹⁶ to 74.36%²². The overall female rate of the review was 64.71%. Participants of all studies were included based on an objective diagnosis. DSM-5 was used by three (37.5%) studies 16,17,19, while the fourth edition was used by two (25%) ^{18,21}. Three studies (37.5%) reported using the Structured Clinical Interview for either DSM-IV or DSM-5^{17,19,21}. One study (12.5%) used the Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI) 22. The remaining two studies (25%) reported a diagnostic score on respectively the 17item HDRS 20 and the GDS 23.

Pharmacological interventions

As shown in Table II, pharmacological treatments were studied by four RCTs (50%), accounting for 450 (67.87%) of the overall patients in review. Saffron ¹⁶, vortioxetine ¹⁷, tianeptine ¹⁸, and levomilnacipran ¹⁹ were investigated. Sertraline, at mean doses of 100 and 75 mg/die respectively, was used as an active control in two studies ^{16,17}. One trial was placebo-controlled ¹⁹, while another one adopted both placebo and active control with escitalopram 10 mg/die ¹⁸. Interventions were completed after six ^{16,17}, eight ¹⁸ or twelve weeks ¹⁹.

Non-pharmacological interventions

Four studies (50%) performed non-pharmacological interventions, accounting for about 32.13% out of the review overall sample size ²⁰⁻²³.

Two trials (25%) performed different types of reward-based psychotherapies and multidomain interventions ^{21,22}. Both trials performed psychotherapy-based controls. One study (12.5%) reported an intervention consisted in a 10-min-

Table I. Study populations and characteristics.

Author	Year	Country	Study	Study		Sample	Size	Age	Fem	ale Rate	Diagnostic	Risk
Aution	Tear	Country	Design	Arms		Sample	50126	Age	i em	ale nate	criteria	of bias*
					Tot.	Treat.	Ctrl.					
					n	n (%)	n (%)	mean,SD	n	%		
Ahmadpanah et al. ¹⁶	2019	Iran	DB- RCT	2	50	25	25	65.6, 4.32	15	30.00%	DSM-5	Low
Borhannejad et al. ¹⁷	2020	Iran	DB- RCT	2	60	30	30	70.64, 8.26	37	61.67%	SCID (DSM-5)	Low
Emsley et al. ¹⁸	2018	Multi- center	DB- RCT	3	311	105	107 (placebo)	70.44, 4.78	225	72.35%	DSM-IV-TR	Low
							99 (escit.)					
lonson et al. ²⁰	2018	Canada	RCT	2	83	40	43	68.85, 6.16	57	68.67%	HRSD-17	High
Krause-Sorio et al. ¹⁹	2019	USA	DB- RCT	2	29	17	12	71.52, 5.79	14	48.28%	SCID (DSM-5)	High
Roh et al. 22	2019	Korea	RCT	2	78	38	40	74.0, 5.8	58	74.36%	MINI	Low
Solomonov et al. ²¹	2020	USA	RCT	2	32	16	16	72.35, 8.12	23	71.88%	SCID (DSM-IV)	Some concerns
Verrusio et al. ²³	2018	Italy	RCT	2	20	10	10	88.3, 5.3	0	0%	GDS	Some concerns

DB-RCT: Double-Blind Randomized Controlled Trial; DSM-5: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth edition; SCID: Structured Clinical Interview for DSM; HRSD-17: 17-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; MINI: Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview; GDS: Geriatric Depression Scale. * Summary evaluation according to the revised Cochrane risk of bias tool for randomized controlled trials.

utes phone call per week and 60-minutes home visits every four weeks²².

One study (12.5%) carried out one session per week of meditation practices. Sessions lasted 60 minutes. The trial was controlled by treatment as usual consisting in an-tidepressants and supportive psychotherapy ²⁰.

The last study ²³ performed three 45-minutes sessions of physical activity per week, with use of Human Body Posturizers (HBPs) in the treatment group.

Trials were completed after either nine ²², twelve ²⁰ or twenty four ^{21,23} weeks.

Outcome measurement

Six studies (75%) rated the variations of symptoms with the HDRS, either in its 17-item ^{16-18,20} or 24-item versions ^{19,21} (Table III). The last two studies adopted the MADRS ²² and the GDS ²³, respectively.

Treatment response, remission and reduction of symptoms

We were able to determine the effect sizes and significance levels for treatment response and symptom remission of four (50%) pharmacological ¹⁶⁻¹⁹ and one (12.5%) non-pharmacological interventions ²⁰.

With regard to pharmacological RCTs, the comparisons

of saffron ¹³ and vortioxetine ¹⁴ with sertraline were not different for reduction of depressive symptoms ($n^2 = 0.008$ and p = 0.897, respectively). Symptom reduction was as well no significantly different between tianeptine and escitalopram (p = 0.32) ¹⁵. Vortioxetine showed no significant difference with sertraline in treatment response (RR 1.02, 95% CI 0.67-1.55, p = 1.00) ¹⁷. Differences in remission probability for saffron (RR 1.0, 95% CI 0.61-1.63, p = 1) ¹⁶ and vortioxetine (RR 0.6, 95% CI 0.25-1.44, p = 0.38) ¹⁷ compared to sertraline had a poor statistical significance. Levomilnacipran had no significant effect on remission compared to placebo (RR 1.41, 95% CI 0.31-6.51, p = 1)¹⁹. In one non-pharmacological RCT, meditation practice showed a small effect size and little significance level for response (RR 2.58, 95% CI 1.00-6.67, p = 0.06), whereas remission rates were consistently higher in the control group rather than the intervention group (RR 0.24, 95% CI 0.05-0.42, p = 0.03)²⁰.

Multidomain intervention showed a significant reduction of depressive symptoms compared to supportive therapy (score difference: 5.117, p = 0.029)²². One intervention of reward-based psychotherapy reduced the symptoms as well as problem-solving therapy in control group (p < 0.0001)²¹. Physical activity with HBPs significantly contributed to depressive symptom reduction compared to classic physical exercise (p = 0.01)²³.

Author	Year	S	ample S	ize	Study	Treatment		Control	
Addivi	icui	0.	inpic 0	20	Duration	noatment		Control	
		Tot.	Treat.	Ctrl.		Name	Characteristics	Name	Characteristics
		Ν	N. (%)	N. (%)	Weeks				
2.1. RCTs of p tions	harma	cologi	ical inte	rven-					
Ahmadpanah et al. ¹⁶	2019	50	25	25	6	Saffron (C. Sativus L.)	60 mg/die	Sertraline	100 mg/die
Borhannejad et al. 17	2020	60	30	30	6	Vortioxetine	15 mg/die	Sertraline	75 mg/die
Emsley et al. ¹⁸	2018	311	105	107	8	Tianeptine	50 mg/die	Placebo	
				99				Escitalopram	10 mg/die
Krause-Sorio et al. 19	2019	29	17	12	12	Levomilnacipran	40 (20-120) mg/die	Placebo	NA
2.2. RCTs of I	າon-ph	armac	ologica	l interv	entions				
lonson et al. ²⁰	2018	83	40	43	12	Sahaj Samadi meditation	60 min 1/week	Treatment as usual	antidepressants supportive psychotherapy
Roh et al. 22	2019	78	38	40	9	"Gold Medal Program" multidomain intervention	10-min phone call: 1/week 60-min visit: 1/month	Supportive therapy	10-min phone call: 1/week 60-min visit: 1/month
Solomonov et al. 21	2020	32	16	16	24	"Engage" psychotherapy	NA	Problem- solving therapy	NA
Verrusio et al. ²³	2018	20	10	10	24	Physical activity with Human Body Posturizer (HBP)	45 min 3/week	Physical exercise training	45 min 3 sessions/week

Table II. Characteristics of interventions

NA: Not Available

Dropouts and adverse events

Attrition rates of five (62.5%) studies ¹⁶⁻²⁰ ranged from 11.25% ¹⁸ to 51.72% ¹⁹ (Table III). The effect size for dropouts due to adverse events in treatment compared to placebo was high in one RCT, with strong inconsistence (RR 5.38, 95% Cl 0.66-44.04, p = 0.1) ²⁰.

The effect sizes and significance levels of adverse events were drawn out for the pharmacological interventions ¹⁶⁻¹⁹ (Table IV). The adverse events reported in the RCTs were allocated to six categories: gastrointestinal, cardiovascular, respiratory, neurological, psychiatric, and sleep disorders. Three trials (37.5%) reported significant results for neurological disorders. Neurological adverse events were less frequent in saffron than sertraline (RR 0.13, 95% Cl 0.17-0.93, p = 0.02) ¹⁶. Levomilnacipran was consistently related to adverse neurological events in one placebocontrolled RCT (RR 12, 95% Cl 0.3-0.71, p = 0.000) ¹⁹. Neurological (RR 0.46, 95% Cl 0.31-0.96, p = 0.04) dis-

orders were less common in tianeptine than escitalopram users ¹⁸.

Risk of bias

A high risk of bias was assessed for two studies (25%)^{19,20}, whereas two other studies 21,23 presented some concerns of bias risk in RoB-2 assessment. However, the risk of bias was low in three (37.5%) pharmacological ¹⁶⁻¹⁸ and one (12.5%) non-pharmacological interventions ²², respectively.

Discussion

An update of Krause and colleagues' systematic review ⁹ of all pharmacological and non-pharmacological RCTs published in recent years in the treatment of MDD in the elderly was conducted. With regard to pharmacological interventions, both vortioxetine, saffron and tianeptine reduced depressive simptoms in MDD older adults, although no significant differences in their efficacy were

Table III. Effica	Table III. Efficacy and dropouts.	<u>s</u>									
Author	Intervention	Rating scale	Scores a	Scores at Baseline	Scores at	Scores at Completion	Response	Ð	Remission	u	Attrition rate
			Treatment	Control	Treatment	Control					
			Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	RR (95% CI)	* •	RR (95% CI)	<u>*</u>	%
Ahmadpanah et al. ¹⁶	Saffron (C. Sativus L.)	HRSD-17	HRSD-17 21.12, 2.35	21.4, 2.86	9.92, 4.51	8.76, 4.52	8 (1.08 -59.32)	0.02	1.0 (0.61-1.63)	1.00	16,00%
Borhannejad et al. ¹⁷	Vortioxetine	HRSD-17	30.6, 4.07	30.88, 5.93	21.52, 4.79	21.96, 6.1	1.02 (0.67-1.55)	1.00	1.00 0.6 (0.25-1.44)	0.38	16,67%
Emsley et al. ¹⁸	Tianeptine	HRSD-17	26.7, 3.2	26.6, 3.5 (placebo)	13.3, 7.0	17.1, 6.9 (placebo)	1.39 (0.99-1.94)	0.07	NA	NA	11,25%
				26.7, 3.2 (escitalopram)		13.1, 6.6 (escitalopram)	0.86 (0.65-1.12)	0.27	NA	NA	NA

HRSD -17 (24): 17 (24)-item version of Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression; K-MADRS: Korean version of Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale; GDS: Geriatric Depression Scale. *P: Two-sided Fisher's exact P. NA: Not Available. with Human Body Posturizer (HBP)

found when compared to sertraline and escitalopram, respectively. Focusing on adverse events, in comparison with sertraline, vortioxetine did not show any significantly difference, while saffron was associated to less neurological disorders. Neurological and gastrointestinal disorders were also less common in patients under tianeptine compared to escitalopram. Considering non-pharmacological interventions. response rates for one meditationbased trial were slightly higher than treatment as usual, but estimates had a poor consistence. Multi-domain intervention, reward-based psychotherapy and physical activity with HBP significantly reduced depressive symptoms in older patients compared to control groups.

In terms of response to treatment, Krause and colleagues' networkmeta-analysis 9 showed a significant superiority for quetiapine and duloxetine compared to placebo ²⁴. Moreover, agomelatine, imipramine and vortioxetine outperformed placebo in pairwise meta-analyses, and there were also significant superiorities of several antidepressants compared to placebo in secondary efficacy outcomes 9. With regard to non-pharmacological interventions, very limited evidence suggested that competitive memory training, geriatric home treatment group and detached mindfulness condition reduced depressive symptoms.

The small number of selected RCTs analizing different type of pharmacological interventions (except vortioxetine), does not allow a comparison with the results of the previous systematic review either in terms of efficacy or safety. Antidepressants keep to be effective in decreasing depressive symptoms in the elderly showing a significant superiority compared to placebo without, however, significant differences in comparison to controls (sertraline and escitalopram, respectively). Insufficient and not robust evidence supports the use of non-pharmacological approaches in treating MDD older patients.

Dopouts due to adverse events

0.49

0

Δ.

RR (95% CI)

٩Z

AN

0.50

(0.13-1.98)

0.51

0.32

0.47

(0.12-1.83)

0.12

51,72%

1.00

1.41

₹

AN

₹

₹

AA

A

Levomilnacipran HRSD-24

Krause-Sorio et

0.1

5.38

15,66%

0.03

0.24 (0.05-0.42) (0.31-6.51)

0.06

2.58 (1.00-6.67)

¥

AN

15.2, 4.4

14.16, 4.1

HRSD-17

Sahaj Samadi

lonson et al. ²⁰

(0.66-44.04)

A

٩N

AN

₹

AA

₹

٩Z

¥

AN

31.9, 7.9

31.6, 9.0

K-MADRS

Gold Medal meditation

ו et al. ²²

Roh

Program" multidomain intervention

A

٩N

¥

٩Z

AN

¥

Ā

¥

٩N

22.2, 4.45

22.9, 4.29

HRSD-24

A

٩N

A

AN

¥

¥

٩N

7.9, 1.0

5.2, 1.1

8.6, 1.26

8.5, 1.17

GDS

Physical activity

Verrusio et al. 23

Solomonov et al. ²¹

psychotherapy

"Engage"

Table IV. Adverse events.

Amadpanal Safton/ NA Sessol P RB Sessol P NA NA <th></th> <th>Intervention/ Control</th> <th>Ga</th> <th>Gastrointestinal disorders</th> <th>inal</th> <th>Car</th> <th>Cardiovascular disorders</th> <th>ar</th> <th>Respira</th> <th>Respiratory disorders Neurological disorders</th> <th>rders</th> <th>Neurol</th> <th>logical dis</th> <th>orders</th> <th></th> <th>Psychiatric disorders</th> <th>ders</th> <th>Slee</th> <th>Sleep Disorders</th> <th>ers</th>		Intervention/ Control	Ga	Gastrointestinal disorders	inal	Car	Cardiovascular disorders	ar	Respira	Respiratory disorders Neurological disorders	rders	Neurol	logical dis	orders		Psychiatric disorders	ders	Slee	Sleep Disorders	ers
ab Saffon/ Sertraine NA			RR	95% CI	*	RR	95% CI	*	RR	95% CI	*	RR	95% CI	*	RR	95% CI	* •	RR	95% CI	*
ad Vorticatine/ Sertratine 0.82 0.33- 0.2 0.76 0.52 1 NA	panah	Saffron/ Sertraline	AN	NA	NA	AN	AN	AN	AN	NA	AN	0.13	0.17- 0.93	0.02	AN	NA	ΑN	0	NA	0.49
io Levoninacipran/ Placebo NA NA NA 0.023 1.76 0.41- 763 0.66 NA NA 12 1.84- 78.37 0.000 NA NA <td>inejad</td> <td>Vortioxetine/ Sertraline</td> <td>0.82</td> <td>-0.33- 0.2</td> <td>0.76</td> <td>0.5</td> <td>0.05- 5.22</td> <td>-</td> <td>NA</td> <td>AN</td> <td>NA</td> <td>-</td> <td>0.07- 15.26</td> <td>-</td> <td>AN</td> <td>NA</td> <td>AN</td> <td>0.4</td> <td>0.14- 1.14</td> <td>0.13</td>	inejad	Vortioxetine/ Sertraline	0.82	-0.33- 0.2	0.76	0.5	0.05- 5.22	-	NA	AN	NA	-	0.07- 15.26	-	AN	NA	AN	0.4	0.14- 1.14	0.13
Tianeptine/ 0.85 0.45- 0.71 NA NA 1.02 0.06- 1 0.86 0.53- 0.62 1.02 0.15-7.1 1 Placebo 1.59 1.6.08 1.42 1.42 1.42 1.42 1.42 1.55 1.55 1.55 1.56 1.56 1.56 1.55 1.56 1.55 1.57 1	-Sorio	Levomilnacipran/ Placebo	NA	NA	0.023	1.76	0.41- 7.63	0.66	NA	AN	NA	12	1.84- 78.37	0.000	AN	NA	NA	0.06	-0.05- 0.17	-
Tianeptine/ 0.54 0.31- 0.04 0 0.23 0.47 0.43- 0.61 0.46 0.3- 0.0003 0.31 0.06- 0.16 ≣scitalopram 0.96 1.52 5.12 0.71 1.52	/ et	Tianeptine/ Placebo	0.85	0.45- 1.59	0.71	NA	NA	NA	1.02	0.06- 16.08	-	0.86	0.53- 1.42	0.62	1.02	0.15-7.1	÷	1.02	0.65- 16.08	-
t Available.		Tianeptine/ Escitalopram	0.54	0.31- 0.96	0.04	0		0.23	0.47	0.43- 5.12	0.61	0.46	0.3- 0.71	0.0003	0.31	0.06- 1.52	0.16	0.31	0.03- 2.97	0.36
	ıt Availa	uble.																		

Along to the efficacy, particularly in older patients, differences in side-effects should be considered in drug choice. Feeling reluctant to use synthetic drugs frequently induce the elderly to take herbal products ²⁵. Above all, saffron has been already succesfully used for depressive symptoms ²⁶ along to several somatic complaints, such as premenstrual syndrome, post-menopausal flashes, sexual dysfunction and infertility, and excessive snacking behaviors 27. The relatively low efficacy showed by antidepressants – only one out of nine people benefit from them ²⁷ – and the risk of unnecessarily side effects, could increase attraction for herbal products, including saffron, in the older people.

This systematic review needs to be interpreted in the light of several strengths and limitations. Only RCTs were included and their quality was evaluated using a widely recognized tool for bias risk assessment. Most of the RCTs carefully reported study procedures and methodology. The scarce number of included studies reflects the selectivity of our inclusion and exclusion criteria. Study power was thoroughly affected by the short sample sizes. Consistent results were scant, and the effect sizes were often low. Some studies were at high risk of bias (Table I) and, not always, efficacy was the major outcome of the trials, raising concerns on selection bias risk ¹⁹.

The WHO proposition that there can be "no health without mental health" ²⁸ is valid for everybody, but even more so for fragile groups, as the elderly, because of medical comorbidities, cognitive dysfunctions and polypharmacotherapies. Although significant effects for some pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions in older patients, the overall MDD evidence is still scant and not robust. Further studies are needed in this vulnerable segment of population to confirm or refute our findings and consequent clinical recommendations ²⁹.

Acknowledgements

This work was developed within the framework of the DINOGMI Department of Excellence of MIUR 2018-2022 (Law 232/2016).

References

- 1 www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-ofolder-adults
- ² Zivin K, Wharton T, Rostant O. The economic, public health, and caregiver burden of late-life depression. Psychiatr Clin North Am 2003;36:631-649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psc.2013.08.008
- Killinger LZ. Diagnostic challenges in the older patient. Chiropr Man Therap 2012;20:28. https://doi.org/10.1186/2045-709X-20-28
- ⁴ Gallassi R, Di Sarro R, Morreale A, et al. Memory impairment in patients with late-onset major depression: the effect of antidepressant therapy. J Affect Disord 2006;91:243-250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2006.01.018
- Reynolds CF, Lenze E, Mulsant BH. Assessment and treatment of major depression in older adults. Handb Clin Neurol 2019;167:429-435. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804766-8.00023-6

- ⁶ Amerio A, Odone A, Marchesi C, et al. Is depression one thing or many? Br J Psychiatry 2014;204:488. https://doi. org/10.1192/bjp.204.6.488
- 7 Malhi GS, Mann JJ. Depression. Lancet 2018;392:2299-2312. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31948-2
- Nelson JC. Diagnosing and treating depression in the elderly. J Clin Psychiatry 2001;62(Suppl 24):18-22.
- ⁹ Krause M, Gutsmiedl K, Bighelli I, et al. Efficacy and tolerability of pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions in older patients with major depressive disorder: a systematic review, pairwise and network meta-analysis. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 2019;29:1003-1022. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2019.07.130
- Belvederi Murri M, Amore M, et al. Physical exercise for latelife major depression. Br J Psychiatry 2015;207:235-242. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.114.150516
- ¹¹ Higgins JPT, Green S. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions, version 5.1.0. The Cochrane Collaboration - 2011.
- ¹² Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. BMJ 2009;339:b2700. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmj.b2700
- ¹³ Mancini M, Gianni W, Rossi A, et al. Duloxetine in the management of elderly patients with major depressive disorder: an analysis of published data. Expert Opin Pharmacother 2009;10:847-60. https://doi.org/10.1517/14656560902806431
- ¹⁴ Ghio L, Vaggi M, Amore M, et al. Unmet needs and research challenges for late-life mood disorders. Aging Clin Exp Res 2014;26:101-114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40520-013-0149-z
- ¹⁵ Sterne JAC, Savović J, Page MJ, et al. RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 2019;366:I4898. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.I4898
- ¹⁶ Ahmadpanah M, Ramezanshams F, Ghaleiha A, et al. Crocus Sativus L. (saffron) versus sertraline on symptoms of depression among older people with major depressive disorders-a double-blind, randomized intervention study. Psychiatry Res 2019;282:112613. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.112613
- ¹⁷ Borhannejad F, Shariati B, Naderi S, et al. Comparison of vortioxetine and sertraline for treatment of major depressive disorder in elderly patients: a double-blind randomized trial. J Clin Pharm Ther 2020;45:804-811. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jcpt.13177
- ¹⁸ Emsley R, Ahokas A, Suarez A, et al. Efficacy of tianeptine 25-50 mg in elderly patients with recurrent major depressive disorder: an 8-week placebo- and escitalopram-controlled study. J Clin Psychiatry 2018;79. https://doi.org/10.4088/ JCP.17m11741

- ¹⁹ Krause-Sorio B, Kilpatrick L, Siddarth P, et al. Cortical thickness increases with levomilnacipran treatment in a pilot randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial in late-life depression. Psychogeriatrics 2020;20:140-148. https://doi. org/10.1111/psyg.12475
- ²⁰ Ionson E, Limbachia J, Rej S, et al. Effects of Sahaj Samadhi meditation on heart rate variability and depressive symptoms in patients with late-life depression. Br J Psychiatry 2019;214:218-224. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2018.265
- ²¹ Solomonov N, Victoria LW, Dunlop K, et al. Resting State functional connectivity and outcomes of psychotherapies for late-life depression. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2020;28:859-868. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2020.04.008
- ²² Roh HW, Hong CH, Lim HK, et al. A 12-week multidomain intervention for late-life depression: a community-based randomized controlled trial. J Affect Disord 2020;263:437-444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2019.12.013
- ²³ Verrusio W, Renzi A, Cecchetti F, et al. The effect of a physical training with the use of an exoskeleton on depression levels in institutionalized elderly patients: a pilot study. J Nutr Health Aging 2018;22:934-937. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12603-018-1044-2
- ²⁴ Mancini M, Gianni W, Rossi A, et al. Duloxetine in the management of elderly patients with major depressive disorder: an analysis of published data. Expert Opin Pharmacother 2009;10:847-860. https://doi. org/10.1517/14656560902806431
- ²⁵ Apaydin EA, Maher AR, Shanman R, et al, A systematic review of St. John's wort for major depressive disorder. Syst Rev 2016;5:148. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-016-0325-2
- ²⁶ Lopresti AL, Drummond PD, Inarejos-García AM, et al. affron[®], a standardised extract from saffron (Crocus sativus L.) for the treatment of youth anxiety and depressive symptoms: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Affect Disord 2018;232:349-357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jad.2018.02.070
- 27 Hausenblas HA, Heekin K, Mutchie HL, et al. A systematic review of randomized controlled trials examining the effectiveness of saffron (Crocus sativus L.) on psychological and behavioral outcomes. J Integr Med 2015;13: 231-240. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S2095-4964(15)60176-5
- ²⁸ Prince M, Patel V, Saxena S, et al. No health without mental health. Lancet 2007;370:859-877. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(07)61238-0
- Ostuzzi G, Gastaldon C, Barbato A, et al. Tolerability and efficacy of vortioxetine versus SSRIs in elderly with major depression. Study protocol of the VESPA study: a pragmatic, multicentre, open-label, parallel-group, superiority, randomized trial. Trials 2020;21:695. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-020-04460-6

Updates in treating MDD in the elderl Appendix 1. MEDLINE Search Strategy. SET MEDLINE Elder* OR old OR older OR "senior citizen" OR Aging OR aged OR "late-life" OR "late life" OR "late adult*" OR "late-1 adult* 2 geriatri* OR geronto* OR psychoger* or geropsych* З older AND (65 OR 70 OR 75 OR 79 OR 80 OR 85 OR 90 OR 95) AND years 4 Aaed 5 Health Services for the Aged 6 Health Services for the Elderly 7 Sets 1-6 were combined with "OR" 8 Depress* OR "unipolar depression" OR "major depressive disorder" OR MDD (affective OR mood) AND (symptom* OR disorder*) 9 Beck Depression Inventory" OR BDI OR Hamilton OR HAM-D OR "Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale" OR 10 MADRS OR "Geriatric Depression Scale" OR GDS OR "depression rating scale" OR (operationali* AND diagnosis) "ICD-10" AND "F33*" 11 Depression 12 13 Depressive disorder Depressive disorder, Major 14 15 Sets 8-14 were combined with "OR" antidepress* OR "anti depress*" OR MAOI* OR "monoamine oxidase inhibit*" OR ((serotonin OR norepinephrine OR 16 noradrenaline OR "nor epinephrine" OR "nor adrenaline" OR neurotransmitt* OR dopamine*) AND (uptake OR reuptake OR re-uptake)) OR noradrenerg* OR antiadrenergic OR "anti adrenergic" OR SSRI* OR SNRI* OR TCA* OR tricyclic* OR tetracyclic* OR heterocyclic* OR psychotropic* Agomelatine OR Alaproclate OR Amoxapine OR Amineptine OR Amitriptylin* OR Amitriptylinoxide OR Atomoxetine OR Befloxatone OR Benactyzine OR Binospirone OR Brofaromine OR (Buproprion OR Amfebutamone) OR Butriptyline OR Caroxazone OR Cianopramine OR Cilobamine OR Cimoxatone OR Citalopram OR (Chlorimipramin* OR Clomipramin* OR Chlomipramin* OR Clomipramine) OR Clorgyline OR Clovoxamine OR (CX157 OR Tyrima) OR Demexiptiline OR Deprenyl OR (Desipramine* OR Pertofrane) OR Desvenlafaxine OR Dibenzepin OR Diclofensine OR Dimetacrin* OR Dosulepin OR Dothiepin OR Doxepin OR Duloxetine OR Desvenlafaxine OR DVS-233 OR Escitalopram OR Etoperidone OR Femoxetine OR Fluotracen OR Fluoxetine OR Fluoxamine OR (Hyperforin OR Hypericum OR St John*) OR Imipramin* OR Iprindole OR Iproniazid* OR Ipsapirone OR Isocarboxazid* OR Levomilnacipran OR Lofepramine* OR ("Lu AA21004" OR Vortioxetine) OR "Lu AA24530" OR (LY2216684 OR Edivoxetine) OR Maprotiline OR Melitracen OR Metapramine OR Mianserin OR Milnacipran OR Minaprine OR Mirtazapine OR Moclobemide OR Nefazodone OR Nialamide OR Nitroxazepine OR Nomifensine OR Norfenfluramine OR nortriptylin* OR Noxiptilin* OR Opipramol OR Oxaflozane OR Paroxetine OR Phenelzine OR Pheniprazine OR Pipofezine OR Pirlindole OR Pivagabine OR Pizotyline OR Propizepine OR Protriptylin* OR Quinupramine OR Reboxetine OR Rolipram OR Scopolamine OR Selegiline OR Sertraline OR Setiptiline OR Teciptiline OR Thozalinone OR Tianeptin* OR Toloxatone OR Tranylcypromin* OR Trazodone OR Trimipramine OR Venlafaxine OR Viloxazine OR Vilazodone OR Vigualine OR Zalospirone Antidepressive Agents 17 Antidepressive Agents, Tricyclic 18 Adrenergic Uptake Inhibitors 19

- 20 Psychotropic Drugs
- 21 Monoamine Oxidase Inhibitors
- 22 Serotonin and Noradrenaline Reuptake Inhibitors
- 23 sets 16-22 were combined with "OR"
- 24 Psychotherapy
- 25 Cognitive therapy
- 26 Behavioral therapy
- 27 Dynamic therapy
- 28 Collaborative care
- 29 Physical exercise30 Psychotherapy
- оо гъуспошегару
- 31 sets 24-30 were combined with "OR"
- 32 sets 23 and 31 were combined with "OR"
- 33 sets 7, 15, 32 were combined with "AND"
- 34 set 33 was limited from December 17th, 2017 to January 1st, 2021; English language; Aged: > 65 years; Study design: Randomized Controlled Trials (RCTs)





Giuseppe Ducci

How to cite this article: Panaccione I, Davì G, Lombardi F, et al. Prevention and early intervention in mental health: a one-year analysis of activity from a Local Public Health Trust. Evidence-based Psychiatric Care 2021;7:32-39. https:// doi.org/10.36180/2421-4469-2021-6

Correspondence:

Giuseppe Ducci giuseppe.ducci@aslroma1.it

Conflict of interest

The Authors declare no conflict of interest. The study was conducted without receiving any form of funding

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en



© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl

Evidence based Psychiatric Care Journal of the Italian Society of Psychiatry

Prevention and early intervention in mental health: a one-year analysis of activity from a Local Public Health Trust

Isabella Panaccione, Giuseppe Davì, Flavia Lombardi, Vito Mirizio, Gianluigi Di Cesare, Giuseppe Ducci

Mental Health Department, ASL Roma 1, Rome, Italy

Summary

Introduction. Adolescence represents a critical period for the individual's psychic development, during which substantial neurobiological and psychosocial changes occur. It is estimated that about 70% of psychiatric conditions begin within 25 years of age and that nonspecific prodromal symptoms are already detectable several years earlier. The early identification and management of subjects at high risk of developing mental disorders or risk behaviors represent a priority within Mental Health Departments. In this study, data relating to the afference, the type of disorder identified, and treatments provided in a territorial Prevention and Early Intervention Service aimed specifically at subjects between 14 and 25 years residing in area of the Local Health Trust (ASL) Roma 1 were described.

Methods. Data concerning the services provided by the Unity from January 2020 to December 2020 to users residing in Municipalities referring to the (ASL) Roma 1 have been extrapolated from the following information systems: SISP 2000 and GDSM (territorial service and day center), SIPC- sr (residential structures).

Results. A total of 1149 subjects (53% female), representing the 1.2% of the 14-25 year-old population living within the territory of ASL Roma 1 were followed up by the service, with 486 (55% females) new outpatients during the 12 months considered. About 24% of new users had a VGF score of \leq 50. The prevalent diagnoses for all subjects currently undergoing treatment were: neurotic disorders, 47%; personality disorders: 24%; affective disorders: 10%; psychotic disorders: 10%. One hundred thirty-three patients (11.6% of total users) were attending activities in the semi-residential service (day service), while 32 subjects were undergoing treatment in the residential facilities belonging to the unit. About 34.4% of patients reported use of substances, the most frequent being cannabis (83.3%). The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic was associated to a decrease of accesses during the first lockdown (march-april 2020), followed by a substantial rebound of referrals in autumn.

Conclusions. Evidence from the scientific literature and epidemiological data confirm the indication to intercept early and take charge of subjects at high risk or at the onset of a psychic disorder. This requires specific structures in non-stigmatizing contexts and with a multidisciplinary approach. The possibility of identifying early psychopathological and environmental risk factors is fundamental in the structuring of a timely and articulated intervention which, by limiting the duration of untreated pathology, can positively modify its trajectory and long-term outcome.

Key words: adolescence, young adults, psychiatry, community treatment, CAMHS, integrated healthcare

Introduction

Adolescence represents a critical period for the individual's psychic development, during which substantial physical, neurobiological, emotional, and psychosocial changes occur.

Adolescence typically begins with the onset of physiological puberty and ends when an adult identity and behaviour are developed and integrated. The World Health Organization (WHO) defines "adolescents" individuals in the 10-19 years age group and "youth" the 15-24 years age group, while "young people" covers the age range 10-24 years ¹. In general, Authors tend to subdivide this lengthy period of development into "adolescence" (10-19 years) and "young adulthood" (20-24 years) ². However, there is only partial consensus on this matter among researchers, and age ranges defining adolescence are still debated.

Adolescents are faced with critical biological and psychological challenges. From a neurobiological perspective, there is increasing evidence that the adolescent brain undergoes major changes in the neural systems underlying several functions, such as emotion processing and control, motivation, cognition, interpersonal interactions, and risk-versus-reward appraisal. Modifications include, but are not limited to, changes in grey matter volumes, synaptic pruning, and myelination ³. These processes start in childhood, become significant around 14 years of age, and continue throughout time until about 25 years of age, when remodeling and myelination of crucial brain areas, such as the prefrontal cortex, are completed. Alterations in these processes, together with environmental stressors (i.e., maltreatment, neglect, bullying, and substance use, among others), might undermine the physiological transition into adulthood and underlie the increased risk for the development of psychiatric disorders in this timeframe.

It is estimated that about 70% of mental health problems in adults started during childhood and adolescence, mostly between age 14 to 24, and earlier onset is associated to a more severe course of illness and chronicity ³⁻⁶. However, most remain undetected and untreated until later in life 7. Mental and substance use disorders are major contributors to health-related disability in children and youth, accounting for about 1/4 of all Years Lived with Disability (YLDs) 8. Half of all mental disorders starting in adolescence are usually preceded by non-specific psychosocial disturbances ⁹ that may persist for months or even years, delaying detection and intervention. Additionally, adolescents represent a population at higher risk of developing mental problems when facing severe social and environmental stressors, such as the recent, ongoing COVID-19 pandemic 10-12.

Mental health problems do not only affect young people and their family and friends, but also have deep implications for their social functioning. In Europe, 15 to 20% of adolescents have at least one psychological or behavioural problem, that often continue throughout adulthood and may become chronic, with eventual implications for global economy ¹³. It is estimated that a yearly loss of 4% of the European gross national product is linked to the effects of mental health problems, such as absenteeism and reduced work performance ¹⁴. Moreover, certain conditions, such as substance use, antisocial behaviour, conduct disorders, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and neurodevelopmental disorders, are associated with early involvement with juvenile justice system ¹⁵⁻¹⁶. Since effective treatments during adolescence not only affect the duration of mental health episodes, but also reduce morbidity later in life and portend a better social and functional outcome 17, prevention and early identification and intervention are crucial ⁶. Young people and their caregiver often fail to find adequate help for mental health problems. This is partly due to several issues, such as perceived and self-stigmatising attitudes to mental illness, limited access, and general lack of knowledge about mental health services ¹⁸. In addition, adolescents have different care needs than adults and children, being right in the middle of their maturation end self-identification process. In 2002, the World Health Organization issued a statement that European Union member states are required to deliver tailored and adequate mental health care (MHC) interventions to adolescents in need of help. More specifically, member states need to ensure "age-sensitive MHC services (i.e., primary and specialised health care services and social care services) operating as integrated networks" ¹⁹. To date, however, specialised MHC facilities for adolescents are lacking.

The current service configuration, with distinct Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) generally treating patients until 18 years of age, and Adult Mental Health Services (AMHS), contributes to high rates of transition-related discontinuity of care. It has been estimated that between 25% and 49% of CAMHS service users will need transitioning to AMHS 20. However, deficiencies in planning, organisation, and policy lead to a suboptimal transition process, and treatment gaps are particularly relevant for people affected by specific conditions, such as neurodevelopmental disorders ²¹. Therefore, services allowing patients to be assessed in a structured and standardised way, in order to determine the on-going need for care throughout adolescence and early adulthood, will have the potential to improve treatment retention and, by delivering intensive, multidisciplinary, and tailored interventions during a crucial developmental timeframe, lead to better outcome and quality of life ²². Finally, it is important to note that about 15-23% of children worldwide live with a parent with a mental disorder, and that these children are at increased risk to develop several mental and social issues, such as depression. anxiety, affect dysregulation, behavioral problems, reduced overall functioning, substance abuse, and lower occupational status ²³. These observations highlight the need for parent involvement in the treatment of adolescents.

Organization of a 14-25-year-old mental healthcare service in Rome

This dedicated public mental health service has been instituted within the Mental Health Department (MHD) of the Local Health Trust "ASL Roma1" in Rome, Italy. ASL Roma 1 provides healthcare to 6 out of the 15 administrative areas (*Municipi*) in which the city of Rome is subdivided (i.e., *Municipio* 1, 2, 3, 13, 14, and 15), serving more than 1 million inhabitants. Overall, this territory is extremely diversified in terms of sociodemographic characteristics and healthcare and social needs, requiring tailored interventions.

The service is aimed to adolescents and young adults (14 to 25 years old) living in the abovementioned areas. This age range has been defined to provide continuity of care across all stages of adolescence to adulthood, as defined by the WHO, overcoming the traditional separation between CAMHS and AMHS. This configuration then guarantees to specifically address patients' needs during a developmental timeframe characterized by profound neurobiological, psychological, and social changes, whose interaction shapes future health and functional outcomes. The service implements interventions aimed to both prevention and early identification and treatment of mental problems at their onset, reducing the duration of untreated illness, with a multidisciplinary approach. It provides care programmes to patients with major psychiatric disorders, including subjects of > 18 years with ADHD and autism spectrum disorders without cognitive impairment (formerly known as "high functioning"). Treatments include psychopharmacological and psychological (both individual and group) therapy, as well as psychosocial and vocational rehabilitation, and parental support. When appropriate, treatments are carried out conjointly with other mental health services, i.e., eating disorders and addiction centers. Prompt consulting of inpatients admitted to hospital psychiatric wards is also guaranteed.

The Unit comprises two independent outpatient health centres, located within the "east" and "west" areas of ASL Roma 1, providing assessment and therapeutic continuity to patients from Municipi 1 east, 2, and 3, and 1 west, 13, 14, and 15, respectively. Each center refers to an intermediate semi-residential structure (namely the Day Centre) designed to carry out psychiatric treatment, rehabilitation, and recovery and development of patients' social skills in an informal environment. Additionally, four residential facilities directly pertain to the Unit, providing long-term residential care in close cooperation with patients' referring therapeutic team. Residential structures are organized to provide assistance of different intensity, from round-theclock support for severely impaired patients to relatively limited care for subjects with greater levels of functioning. Further activities of the Unit comprise psychiatric and psychological consultations for the juvenile detention center in Rome, as well as counselling for most of the high schools within the ASL Roma 1 territory.

Methods

We conducted a descriptive, retrospective review of existing medical charts on outpatients referring to a Prevention and Early Intervention in Mental Health Center of ASL Roma 1 between January and December 2020. Information was extracted from the electronic databases "SISP 2000" and "GDSM" (territorial services and day centers). and "SIPC-sr" (residential facilities). Data were anonymized and each patient was identified only by a numeric code automatically generated by the system. Age, gender, ICD-9-CM diagnosis, and Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF) scores ^{24,25} were extracted and analyzed. Diagnoses were attributed according to ICD-9-CM²⁶ codes and grouped as follows: Schizophrenia and Other Psychotic Disorders (ICD-9-CM: 295.x, 297.x; 298.x; 299.x), Affective Disorders (ICD-9-CM: 296.x), Personality Disorders (ICD-9-CM: 301.x), and Neurotic Disorders (ICD-9-CM: 300.x; 307.1; 308.x; 309.x; 311.x). Groups were chosen in line with Regional Health System requirements. Patients were also grouped by age (14, 15-19 and 20-24 years) according to World Health Organization's definition of "adolescence", and "young adulthood" 1. The age of newly incident patients ("first ever") was calculated at the time of first evaluation, whereas the age of prevalent patients was calculated at 31/12/2020. The study was conducted in accordance with the recommendations of Good Clinical Practice guidelines and the Declaration of Helsinki (1964) and subsequent revisions. All subjects (or parents/tutors, if underage) gave written informed consent.

Results

Clinical and demographic characteristics

A total of 1149 subjects (53% female), representing the 1.2% of the 14-25 year-old population living in the territory of ASL Roma 1, was treated in the Unit during the considered 12-months. Four hundred eighty-six new outpatients (55% female) referred to the service during the same timeframe.

We observed an evident reduction of new accesses in March and April, followed by a progressive increase during the subsequent months, and in August, with a peak of new accesses during autumn. The course of new referral by month is shown in Figure 1.

The most frequent reasons for new referrals were: neurotic disorders, 262 (54%); personality disorders, 87 (18%); affective disorders: 46 (9%); psychotic disorders 40 (8%). The prevalent diagnoses for all subjects currently undergoing treatment were: neurotic disorders, 47%; personality disorders: 24%; affective disorders: 10%; psychotic disorders: 10%. Twenty-four percent of new users had a GAF score of \leq 50, thus displaying severe symptomatology and functional impairment. Data are summarized in Tables I-V. Among prevalent subjects, 56 (4.9%) were diagnosed with conduct disorders (ICD-9-CM: 312.x) with a higher rate of


Figure 1. Course of "first ever" patients by month.

		`	0 / 0	,						
Age (years)	Gender									
	Ма	ale	Fer	nale	Total					
	n	%	n	%	n	%				
14	6	3%	14	5%	20	4%				
15-19	128	58%	148	56%	276	57%				
20-24	82	37%	96	36%	178	37%				
≥25	4	2%	8	3%	12	2%				
Total	220	100%	266	100%	486	100%				
%	45%		55%		100%					

Table I. Incident patients (age, gender).

males (n = 38, 67.8%; mean age 18.6 \pm 1.9 years) over females (n = 18, 32.2%; mean age 18.7 \pm 2.9 years). Additionally, 10 patients (0,87%; M = 9, F = 1; mean age 18.7 \pm 1.6 years) were diagnosed with ADHD (ICD-9-CM: 314.x), whereas 12 patients (1.04%; M = 9, F = 3; mean age: 21.7 \pm 1.9 years) had autism spectrum disorders (ICD-9-CM: 299.0x, 299.8x). More than a half (55%) of newly incident patients selfreferred to the service, while 19% were sent from other mental health services or were inpatients about to be discharged from hospital wards with subsequent need of continuity of care.

Seventy-three percent of subjects with psychotic disorders was treated by \geq 3 different healthcare professionals (i.e., psychiatrist, psychologist, nurse, social worker, etc.), compared to 56% of affective disorder patients, 46% of personality disorder patients, and 21% of neurotic disorders patients. The number of healthcare professionals involved in treatments was also higher in patients with lower GAF scores, with \geq 3 different healthcare professionals required in 65% of patients with GAF \leq 50, regardless of diagnosis. About 34.4% of patients (males: 62.7%: females: 37.3%) reported recreational use (at least once per week) of substances. The most frequently assumed drugs were cannabis (83.3%), alcohol (55.3%), cocaine and other stimulants (27.1%). However, only 11.3% of patients reporting frequent use of substances accepted to also refer to specific addiction services.

Finally, about 6% of patients was referred to the service from public security and justice Institutions, including juvenile/family court. Overall, a slightly higher rate (about 9%) of patients were involved in some kind of justice problems, from mild (i.e., drug possession) to severe (i.e., aggression), with a predominance of males (77%).

Day center and residential treatments

One hundred thirty-three patients (11.6%) were attending therapeutic-rehabilitation activities in the day centers (males: 49; 44%; females: 74; 56%), 52 of which entered the programme during the current year, while 32 subjects were undergoing residential treatment in facilities belonging to the unit. Thirty-one additional patients were treated in other residential centers throughout Italy; 86% of these patients were comorbid for substance use disorders.

Discussion

In this study, we describe demographic and clinical characteristics of patients treated in a mental health service

Diagnosis	Age (years)									
	14		15 - 19		20 - 24		≥ 25		Total	
	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Psychotic disorders		0%	12	4%	27	15%	1	13%	40	8%
Affective disorders	1	5%	28	10%	17	9%		0%	46	9%
Personality disorders		0%	55	20%	31	17%	1	13%	87	18%
Neurotic disorders	17	85%	151	54%	88	50%	6	25%	262	54%
Other disorders	1	5%	13	5%	5	3%		0%	19	4%
Non psychiatric	1	5%	16	6%	9	5%	1	13%	27	6%
Unknown/missing		0%	1	0%	1	1%	3	38%	5	1%
Total	20	100%	276	100%	178	100%	12	100%	486	100%

Table II. Incident patients (diagnosis, age).

Table III. Incident patients (diagnosis, GAF scores).

Diagnosis	GAF scores											
	≤ 30		≤ 50		≤ 70		> 70		Unknown/ missing		Total	
	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Psychotic disorders	9	39%	21	23%	7	2%	0	0%	3	11%	40	8%
Affective disorders	4	17%	13	14%	25	8%	2	6%	2	7%	46	9%
Personality disorders	3	13%	24	27%	52	17%	3	9%	5	19%	87	18%
Neurotic disorders	3	13%	26	29%	200	64%	23	71%	10	37%	262	54%
Other disorders	4	17%	4	4%	10	3%	1	3%	0	0%	19	4%
Non-psychiatric	0	0%	2	2%	16	5%	5	12%	4	15%	27	6%
Unknown/missing	0	0%	0	0%	2	1%	0	0%	3	11%	5	1%
Total	23	100%	90	100%	312	100%	34	100%	27	100%	486	100%
%	5%		19%		64%		7%		6%		100%	

Table IV. Prevalent patients (age, gender).

Age (years)	Gender										
	Ма	ale	Fer	nale	Total						
	n	%	n	%	n	%					
14	2	0.4%	8	1%	10	1%					
15-19	217	41%	258	42%	475	41%					
20 - 24	265	49.6%	294	48%	559	49%					
≥ 25	51	10%	54	9%	105	9%					
Total	535	100%	614	100%	1149	100%					
%	47%		53%		100%						

specifically aimed at adolescents and young adults. During the considered period (January-December, 2020), more than one thousand patients received healthcare. and almost 500 new subjects ("first ever") accessed clinical attention, with a slight prevalence of females.

Table V. Prevalent patients (diagnosis, GAF scores)

The number of monthly accesses was not constant, with an evident decrease during march and april and a highpoint in autumn. This reduction overlaps with the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in Italy and subsequent implementations of emergency containment measures from the Government. During this timeframe, regular clinical activities were guaranteed, although with some modifications in line with Government dispositions. However, many patients cancelled their appointments, postponing or waiving treatment. Motivations for this behaviour are unclear. It might be hypothesized that some people gave up reaching the center out of fear of contagion, whereas others might have changed their perception of their own mental status and need for immediate care. However, these remain speculations, and conclusions cannot be drawn. Referrals' decrease in august, in contrast, was predictable and constant over the years, being related to partial reduction of clinical activities and to highest rate of people leaving the city for summertime holydays.

Diagnosis	GAF scores											
	≤ 30		≤ 50		≤ 70		> 70		Unknown/ missing		Total	
	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Psychotic disorders	22	39%	64	20%	31	4%	1	2%	11	15%	129	10%
Affective disorders	9	16%	47	14%	58	8%	4	7%	7	10%	125	10%
Personality disorders	10	18%	105	32%	167	22%	6	10%	17	24%	305	24%
Neurotic disorders	7	13%	85	26%	444	59%	41	71%	20	28%	597	47%
Other disorders	7	13%	17	5%	21	3%	1	2%	2	3%	48	4%
Non-psychiatric	1	2%	6	2%	21	3%	5	9%	9	13%	42	3%
Unknown/missing	0	0%	2	1%	14	2%	0	0%	6	8%	22	2%
Total	56	100%	326	100%	756	100%	58	100%	72	100%	1268	100%
%	4%		26%		60%		5%		6%		100%	

The main reason for treatment-seeking was neurotic disorders (i.e., anxiety disorders, panic disorders), a result in line with previous reports ²⁷. This might also partially explain the observed gender differences, since neurotic disorders tend to be more frequent in females.

About 5% of our sample was diagnosed with conduct disorder, while ADHD and neurodevelopmental disorders were less represented. In all three groups, we observed a predominance of males, a result in line with other reports ²⁸⁻³⁰. Despite increasing awareness on these conditions is leading to better identification, the overall number of patients remains quite low. This might be partially due to the fact that the majority of these patients is usually first treated in CAMHS and might be either discharged at the end of treatment, or lost during transition to other care facilities.

More than a half of help-seeking patients was self-referred. A significant rate (about 1/5) reached the service from either other healthcare providers belonging to the Trust or from hospital psychiatric wards, thus indicating a good continuity of care between different services.

Most patients (75,3%) were offered a combined treatment with at least two different healthcare professionals involved. In particular, psychotic disorder patients displayed a high rate of service utilisation, with more than 70% of them being treated by teams of 3 or more professionals. In our sample, 65% of patients with GAF \leq 50 required treatment from at least 3 different healthcare professionals. Although this might appear quite intuitive, it is still interesting to note that patients with "non severe" diagnosis

account for about one third of all patients with GAF \leq 50, highlighting the importance of functional impairment in terms of healthcare burden and service utilisation. Many neurotic or conduct disorder patients might display significant difficulties in relations and school performance, and might therefore require intensive, multidisciplinary interventions to prevent social isolation and school dropout.

More than 1/3 of patients reported regular consumption of substances of abuse, especially cannabis (83.3%) and alcohol (55.3%). Interestingly, the rate of cannabis use in our sample is in line with previous reports on Italian secondary school students ³¹, hinting at a dramatic diffusion of cannabis consumption within this age range regardless to mental health status. Substance use among adolescent represents a significant public health problem. According to the latest ESPAD report, substance use has risen over the years, with earlier age of first intake and a progressive narrowing of gender gap, as females increased drug and alcohol consumption ^{32,33}. Comorbidity of psychiatric disorders and substance use leads to increased symptom severity, worse course of illness, lower functioning, and detrimental outcomes. Additionally, epidemiological data show that about one third of underages accessing Emergency Departments in Lazio were diagnosed with substance use disorders ³⁴. However, despite this evidence, only a minority of patients with co-occurring substance use refers to specific addiction services. This might be due, at least in part, to insufficient awareness on this problem and its consequences. Stigmatization towards addiction care services might also play a role.

About one out of 10 patients was involved in some kind of justice problems. Although increasing evidence points out that psychiatric patients are not more likely to commit crimes ³⁵, associations have been found between certain psychiatric diagnosis (i.e., ADHD, antisocial personality disorder, conduct disorders, substance use, and neurodevelopmental disorders) and higher rate of contact with juvenile justice systems ^{15,16}. In this perspective, early identification and treatment of these conditions might prevent at-risk behaviours and involvement in illegal activities, offence, and crime, other than representing a crucial step in effective rehabilitation and social reintegration.

Young adulthood is a unique and critical period of development during which unmet health needs and disparities in access to appropriate care are high. Although it is well known that most mental and substance use disorder onset in adolescence, early identification and treatment might be challenging. Subjects might display several nonspecific prodromic symptoms before a clear diagnosis can be made, leading to delays and undertreatment. Additionally, clinical presentation is often complex and comes at the interplay of many different neurobiological and environmental factors, each playing a significant role in determining future trajectories of the illness. Several alternative classification criteria have been proposed to better address this variety of presentations (i.e., internalizing vs externalizing disorders), focusing more on psychopathological dimensions, such as impulsivity and emotional dysregulation, and overall functioning. Finally, clinicians must face significant new challenges, like the substantial increase of "newly emerging" mental disorders, such as Internet, gaming, and smartphone addictions, or severe social retirement (i.e., "hikikomori"), for which standardized treatments are still not available and are often associated with high rates of school dropout and "NEET" (Not in Education, Employment, or Training).

Although in recent years many international organizations, such as WHO, repeatedly pointed out the urgent need for implementing mental health care addressing adolescents' and young adults' specific needs, and substantial efforts have been made in many Countries, the availability of dedicated services is still insufficient. This is also associated with a significant rate of dropouts and inadequate deliver of care during transitions from CAMHS to AMHS. Another critical aspect is the reduced availability of psychiatric wards for underages in hospitals, as well as of dedicated residential facilities, that limit both the safe management of critical episodes and the possibility of effective long-term rehabilitation.

Improvement of the general health, family conditions (e.g., through parental support) and school environment has been demonstrated to show beneficial effect on youth mental health. Preventive interventions require integrated socio-sanitary policies aimed at promoting healthy lifestyles of adolescents and increasing awareness of their behaviours. Finally, epidemiological surveys should be carried out, in order to inform appropriate resource allocation and support policies that address mental health needs of this population ³⁶.

This study has some limitations that must be acknowledged. First, the quality of data, which depends on a correct data entry from the single professional. Consistency on attribution of diagnosis and GAF scores could not be evaluated. The same patient might require more than one treatment over the years and might be attributed different diagnosis as the disease unfolds, leading to a discrepancy between the number of subjects treated and the number of active treatments/diagnosis among prevalent patients. Due to characteristics of the informatic system, information about comorbidity is limited. Finally, these results relate to a specific group of patients (14-25 years old subjects living in a defined urban area), which limits their generalizability to other clinical populations.

Conclusions

This descriptive study outlines the clinical characteristics and utilisation rates of patients referring to a center specifically designed to offer mental care to adolescents and young adults, delineating an accurate picture of a service which is both innovative in its organization and significant in terms of healthcare provided.

Implementation of mental health services specifically aimed to adolescents and young adults is crucial for delivering adequate support throughout this critical neurodevelopmental period, when the early identification and availability of tailored, multidisciplinary interventions might prevent the onset of severe mental disorders and dramatically modify illness trajectories, reducing chronicization. Working in network with additional healthcare providers, including hospitals, other mental health services (i.e., CAMHS, AMHS, eating disorders services, addiction services, etc.), and GPs, is crucial to deliver comprehensive treatments and to avoid dropouts during transitions between services. Additionally, healthcare centers easily accessible, designed to address youth specific needs, and deeply integrated with other public Institutions within the community (i.e., schools) might reduce stigmatization and encourage referrals, reaching a wider number of subjects and effectively promoting well-being.

References

- ¹ World Health Organization. Young people's health a challenge for society Report of a Study Group on Young People and Health for All by the Year 2000. Technical Report Series, No 731. Geneva: World Health Organization 1986. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/trs/WHO_TRS_731.pdf
- ² Arnett JJ. Emerging adulthood: a theory of development from the late teens through the twenties. Am Psychol 2000;55:469-480.
- ³ Paus T, Keshavan M, Giedd JN. Why do many psychiatric

disorders emerge during adolescence? Nat Rev Neurosci 2008;9:947-957.

- ⁴ Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, et al. Lifetime Prevalence and Age-of-Onset Distributions of DSM-IV Disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2005;62:593-602.
- ⁵ Kessler RC, Amminger GP, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, et al. Age of onset of mental disorders: a review of recent literature. Curr Opin Psychiatry 2007;20:359.
- ⁶ De Girolamo G, Dagani J, Purcell R, et al. Age of onset of mental disorders and use of mental health services: needs, opportunities and obstacles. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci 2012;21:47-57.
- ⁷ World Health Organization. Health for the World's Adolescents – a Second Chance in the Second Decade. World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland 2014. Available at: www. who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/documents/seconddecade/en/
- ⁸ Erskine HE, Moffitt TE, Copeland WE, et al. A heavy burden on young minds: the global burden of mental and substance use disorders in children and youth. Psychol Med 2015;45:1551-1563.
- ⁹ Colizzi M, Lasalvia A, Ruggeri M. Prevention and early intervention in youth mental health: is it time for a multidisciplinary and trans-diagnostic model for care? Int J Ment Health Syst 2020;14:23.
- ¹⁰ Loades ME, Chatburn E, Higson-Sweeney N, et al. Rapid Systematic Review: the Impact of Social Isolation and Loneliness on the Mental Health of Children and Adolescents in the Context of COVID-19. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2020;59:1218-1239.
- ¹¹ Nearchou F, Flinn C, Niland R, Subramaniam SS, Hennessy E. Exploring the Impact of COVID-19 on Mental Health Outcomes in Children and Adolescents: a Systematic Review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17:8479. Published 2020 Nov 16. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17228479
- ¹² Orben A, Tomova L, Blakemore SJ. The effects of social deprivation on adolescent development and mental health. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2020;4:634-640.
- ¹³ Sawyer SM, Afifi RA, Bearinger LH, et al. Adolescence: a foundation for future health. Lancet 2012;379:1630-40.
- ¹⁴ Layard R. How mental illness loses out in the NHS. A report by the Centre for Economic Performance's Mental Health Policy Group. CEP Special Papers 26, Centre for Economic Performance, LSE, 2012.
- ¹⁵ National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Antisocial behaviour and conduct disorders in children and young people: recognition and management. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (UK) 2017 Apr. PMID: 32073810.
- ¹⁶ Borschmann R, Janca E, Carter A, et al. The health of adolescents in detention: a global scoping review. Lancet Public Health 2020;5:e114-e126.
- ¹⁷ Patton GC, Coffey C, Romaniuk H, et al. The prognosis of common mental disorders in adolescents: a 14-year prospective cohort study. Lancet 2014;383:1404-1411.
- ¹⁸ Gulliver A, Griffiths KM, Christensen H. Perceived barriers and facilitators to mental health help-seeking in young people: a systematic review. BMC Psychiatry 2010;10:113.
- ¹⁹ World Health Organization. Adolescent mental health: Mapping actions of nongovernmental organizations and other international development organizations. World Health

Organization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2002. Available at: www. who.int/mental_health/publications/adolescent_mental_ health/en/

- ²⁰ Signorini G, Singh SP, Marsanic VB, et al. The interface between child/adolescent and adult mental health services: results from a European 28-country survey. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2018;27:501-511.
- ²¹ Hill A, Wilde S, Tickle A. Review: Transition from Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) to Adult Mental Health Services (AMHS): a meta-synthesis of parental and professional perspectives. Child Adolesc Ment Health 2019;24:295-306.
- ²² Santosh P, Adams L, Fiori F, et al. Protocol for the development and validation procedure of the managing the link and strengthening transition from child to adult mental health care (MILESTONE) suite of measures. BMC Pediatr 2020;20:167.
- ²³ Reedtz C, van Doesum K, Signorini G, et al. Promotion of Wellbeing for Children of Parents With Mental Illness: A Model Protocol for Research and Intervention. Front Psychiatry 2019;10:606.
- ²⁴ Jones SH, Thornicroft G, Coffey M, et al. A brief mental health outcome scale-reliability and validity of the Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF). Br J Psychiatry 1995;166:654-659.
- ²⁵ Schorre BE, Vandvik IH. Global assessment of psychosocial functioning in child and adolescent psychiatry. A review of three unidimensional scales (CGAS, GAF, GAPD). Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2004;13:273-286.
- ²⁶ National Center for Health Statistics (U.S.), Council on Clinical Classifications., Commission on Professional and Hospital Activities, & World Health Organization. The International classification of diseases, 9th revision, clinical modification: ICD. 9. CM. Ann Arbor, Mich: Commission on Professional and Hospital Activities 1978.
- ²⁷ Kessler RC, Avenevoli S, Costello EJ, et al. Prevalence, Persistence, and Sociodemographic Correlates of DSM-IV

Disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication Adolescent Supplement. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2012;69:372-380.

- ²⁸ McCabe KM, Rodgers C, Yeh M, et al. Gender differences in childhood onset conduct disorder. Dev Psychopathol 2004;16:179-192.
- ²⁹ Ramtekkar UP, Reiersen AM, Todorov AA, et al. Sex and age differences in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder symptoms and diagnoses: implications for DSM-V and ICD-11. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2010;49:217-228.
- ³⁰ Zhang Y, Li N, Li C, et al. Genetic evidence of gender difference in autism spectrum disorder supports the femaleprotective effect. Transl Psychiatry 2020;10:429.
- ³¹ Di Nicola M, Ferri VR, Moccia L, et al. Gender Differences and Psychopathological Features Associated With Addictive Behaviors in Adolescents. Front Psychiatry 2017;8:256.
- ³² The ESPAD Group. ESPAD Report 2015: Results from the European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs. Lisbon: European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA) (2016). Available from: www. emcdda.europa.eu/publications/joint-publications/emcddaespadreport_en
- ³³ Johnson RM, Fairman B, Gilreath T, et al. Past 15-year trends in adolescent marijuana use: differences by race/ethnicity and sex. Drug Alcohol Depend 2015;1:8-15.
- ³⁴ SINPIA (Società italiana di Neuropsichiatria dell'Infanzia e dell'Adolescenza), 2014. Politiche del Sistema Integrato in favore della salute mentale di bambini e adolescenti. www. consiglio.regione.lazio.it/binary/consiglio_regionale/tbl_ commissioni_documenti/OsservSINPIALAZIO_28_1_2014. pdf. Last accessed: 20 february 2021
- ³⁵ Ghiasi N, Azhar Y, Singh J. Psychiatric Illness And Criminality. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing June 23, 2020.
- ³⁶ Erskine HE, Baxter AJ, Patton G, et al. The global coverage of prevalence data for mental disorders in children and adolescents. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci 2017;26:395-402.





Giovanni Martinotti

How to cite this article: Martinotti G, Miuli A, Stigliano G, et al. Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation to treat Substance Use Disorders and Behavioral addictions: the state of the art. Evidence-based Psychiatric Care 2021;7:40-46. https://doi. org/10.36180/2421-4469-2021-7

Correspondence:

Giovanni Martinotti giovanni.martinotti@gmail.com

Conflict of interest The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en



© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl

Evidence based Psychiatric Care Journal of the Italian Society of Psychiatry

Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation to treat Substance Use Disorders and Behavioral addictions: the state of the art

Giovanni Martinotti^{1,2}, Andrea Miuli¹, Gianfranco Stigliano¹, Mauro Pettorruso¹, Massimo di Giannantonio¹

¹ Department of Neuroscience, Imaging and Clinical Sciences, "G. d'Annunzio" University, Chieti, Italy; ² Department of Pharmacy, Pharmacology, Clinical Science, University of Hertfordshire, Herts, UK

Summary

Objectives. Substance Use Disorders (SUDs) are characterized by a high health and social impact, care burden, and frequent negative outcomes, especially due to the few pharmacological treatments available, the high relapse rate and poor pharmacological compliance. In this scenario, TMS is increasingly being studied as a tool to treat the neurbiological dysregulations underlying SUDs in an innovative way. The aim of this non-systematic review is to analyze the main and most significant applications of Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation in the field of addiction.

Materials and methods. A PubMed search was conducted using the keywords: "Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation; and Substance Use Disorder; Behavioural Addiction" in December 2020. Only original article written in English dealing with the treatment of cocaine, opioids, alcohol, cannabis and gambling disorder were included.

Results. Three hundred and thirty-four article were found. Based on the current evidence, rTMS can be classified as probably effective in the treatment of addiction, with promising effect size for high frequency rTMS stimulation protocol of the DLPFC mainly in cocaine/stimulant use disorders, and with some noteworthy pilot data in the area of gambling disorder. Double-blind, sham-controlled study design are mostly needed in order to confirm these potential benefits.

Conclusions. Future research should identify potential parameters (i.e., duration, number of stimulation treatments, stimulation frequency, intensity, brain region of target) of stimulation in rTMS studies for the most effective and safe treatment of drug addiction. The personalization of rTMS treatments, as well as the optimization of stimulation protocols, are the main issues that will involve future research in this area.

Key word: Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation, Substance Use Disorders, Behavioral addictions

Introduction

Substances use disorder (SUD) is defined, in the DMS-5, as "a cluster of cognitive, behavioral, and physiological symptoms indicating that the individual continues using the substance despite significant substance-related problems" ¹. In clinical practice it could be described as a chronic pathology with frequent relapses, compulsive seeking behavior, presence of a negative emotional state (e.g., dysphoria, anxiety, irritability, anhedonia) and loss of the ability to control the assumption ². This aspect in particular

highlight a dopaminergic dysregulation in specific neural circuits ³. A key role in the addiction cycle is played by the prefrontal cortex (PFC), involved in learning reinforcement and craving ⁴. The function of PFC was deeply studied in preclinical works: a specific lesion of PFC carry to a loss of the inhibitory control, one of the main domain involved in substances seeking behaviors 5. Above the function of the PFC itself, all the dopaminergic system is primary involved in the anticipation and reward motivation 6. Studies using positron emission tomography have shown that patients with SUD have a reduced number of striatal D2 receptors and a lower dopamine release than the general population ⁷. This dopaminergic dysregulation is at the base of the "incentive awareness theory": a greater reactivity of the mesolimbic system is linked with drug addiction and craving 8. All these neuronal imbalance are reinforced by chronic use of the substance, which leads to dysfunctional synaptic and receptor adaptation ².

One of the main concerns of clinicians about SUD is their treatment: very often there are only symptomatic drugs or substitutive therapy, with limited efficacy as demonstrated by high long-term relapse rates 9. Nowadays, one of the most promising (and most investigated) therapy is Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS). The TMS protocols provide the administration of magnetic impulses generated by the passage of the electric current inside a copper coil. The intensity (measured by a percentage of the resting motor threshold; RMT) and frequency of the magnetic pulse, as well as the duration of the protocol, the target area and the shape of the coil used are the main parameters that characterize the different TMS treatments ¹⁰. The protocols delivering several pulse trains (repetitive TMS; rTMS) in few minutes of stimulation are the most used worldwide ¹¹. TMS has already been approved for the treatment of resistant depression ¹² using an high-frequency protocol (10 Hz) with 75 trains (40 pulses per train) stimulating at 120% of RMT the LDLPFC for about 19 minutes. Always in psychiatric field, deep TMS stimulation of anterior cingulate cortex was approved for obsessive-compulsive disorder with a 20 Hz protocol with 50 trains (2 sec duration) at 100% of RMT for a total of 2000 pulses administrated per session ¹³. TMS stimulation was also approved by FDA for the treatment of headache with aura 14.

The rationale for rTMS in SUDs and other behavioral addictions has its roots in preclinical studies. A work conducted by Chen and coll. on 2013 ¹⁵, highlighted that the optogenetic stimulation of PFC in rats could reverse cocaine-induced prefrontal hypofunction, and blocked drug-seeking behaviors ^{16,17} in compulsive cocaine-seeking rats. The PFC of rats has its homologous in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) in humans ¹⁸. Despite consensus on this matter is still missing, due to the relevant large anatomical diversity between the rodent and the human frontal/anterior cortices, this parallelism provides a first rationale of the non-invasive stimulation of this area with TMS procedures. Another reason for

targeting the DLPFC is based also on the key role that this brain region plays in decision making processes ¹⁹. Addiction is associated with increased impulsivity and impaired risky decision-making ²⁰. These decision-making processes in addiction can be modulated by rTMS on the DLPFC enhancing inhibitory control, which may lead to a reduction in the use of substances. Therefore, the stimulation of the DLPFC by high frequency pulses should increase its activity and its inhibitory control function. In particular, with drug-addicted subjects, this treatment should increase DLPFC function implementing the possibility to control craving and to cope it.

A further aspect to consider is that targeting prefrontal areas via TMS also affects dopaminergic neurotransmission. Strafella and coll. ²¹ found that high frequency rTMS on the prefrontal cortex in humans induces subcortical release of dopamine in caudate nucleus, whereas Cho and Strafella ²² showed that rTMS over the left DLPFC modulates the release of dopamine in anterior cingulated cortex and orbitofrontal cortex in the same hemisphere.

Finally, rTMS could also exert their effects modulating the expression of neurotrophic factors, such as BDNF, an active regulator of synaptic plasticity, within cortical and subcortical areas (Cirillo, Di Pino et al., 2017). More recently, non-synaptic events have been suggested as mediators of rTMS long-term effects, including plasticityrelated gene expression and neurogenesis ^{23,24}.

Given these evidences in the scientific literature, the aim of this work is to analyze the main and most significant applications of TMS in the field of addiction.

Materials and methods

A PubMed search was conducted using the keywords: *"Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation;Substance Use Disorder; Behavioural Addiction".* No temporal criteria were applied. The research, conducted on December 2020, yielded 384 useful results. The most significative articles, written in English, concerning the treatment with TMS of the main substances of abuse (cocaine, opioids, alcohol, cannabis) were therefore selected. All non-original articles (such as reviews) were excluded from this non-systematic selection.

Results

Cocaine Use Disorder

Chronic cocaine use is among the most difficult substanceuse disorders to treat. Nearly 1 in every 7 people seeking treatment for drug abuse is dependent upon cocaine (Abuse N.I.O.D, 2010) and short-term cocaine relapse rates can reach 75% ²⁵. Advances in understanding the neurobiological underpinnings of cocaine use disorders have unraveled that chronic cocaine use causes damage and changes in the PFC ²⁶, including significant brain volume reduction ^{27,28}, cortical hypoactivity ^{5,29,30}, impairment in executive functions, and dysregulation of neurotransmitters systems ³¹⁻³³. Thus, targeting the PFC via TMS appears to be a promising intervention. An open label study with a sample of 36 subjects, analysed the effect of high-frequency TMS (15 Hz) on the LDLPFC with a low number of pulse (600 pulses; 100% RMT) per session. This study lead to a significative reduction in intensity of craving for cocaine ³⁴. However, one of the first studies strongly highlighting these evidences is the one conducted by Terraneo and collaborators. In this work the LDLPFC was stimulated with rTMS (15 Hz, 2400 pulses / session, 40 trains of 60 pulses each) for two consecutive weeks. This treatment lead to an improvement in cocaine assumption (traceable on urine control tests) and craving ³⁵. In more recent time, the works of Zhang and coll. ³⁶ and Pettorruso and coll. 37 offered more evidences on the efficacy of TMS to treat CUD. In the last of these studies, nine of sixteen patient stimulated with the same parameter of Terraneo and coll. ³⁵ did not report any cocaine assumption after 4 treatment weeks. Also other psychiatric dimensions (depressive symptoms, anhedonia, and anxiety) improved after TMS stimulation.

The stimulation of right DLPFC (RDLPFC) was investigated in a study conducted in 2007 by Camprodon and coll. ³⁸. This randomized crossover trial offered a first insight on the efficacy of the RDLPFC stimulation (10 Hz; 90% RMT) with a population of six male patient underwent two session of rTMS, one per week. In addition to the craving for the substance as assessed with the VAS scale, other variables (e.g. anxiety, happiness, sadness) were also evaluated

Opioid Use Disorder

Recent increases in opioid addiction, opioid-related morbidity, and opioid-related mortality have been reported in both USA and Europe. While the number of opioid prescriptions doubled in Europe during the last 10 years, nowadays every day 130 patients die from an overdose of prescription opioids each day in USA ³⁹. Treatment for opioid use disorder typically requires acute detoxification and/or opioid maintenance treatment. The two primary treatments for opioid use disorder (methadone, buprenorphine) are designed for long term opioid maintenance therapy. Methadone is a mu-opioid receptor agonist whereas buprenorphine is a partial mu-opioid receptor agonist (mu agonist-K antagonist).

In the field of Opioid Use Disorder (OUD), the investigation around the effectiveness of TMS is difficult and susceptible of major side effects. Given that opioid withdrawal increases brain sensitivity to TMS induced seizures, this device has not been deeply examined in opioids-dependent patients ⁴⁰.

Few studies have investigated the anti-craving efficacy of TMS by stimulating LDLPFC. A case report of a heroindependent subject conducted on 2020 ⁴¹, showed that seven rTMS session in 3 weeks (10Hz rTMS, 100% RMT) can significantly reduce craving. In another shamcontrolled study ⁴², the efficacy of high frequency rTMS (10 Hz, 100% RMT) was studied on 20 subjects (10 for each group) after five session and then after other four days of stimulation. A significative improvement in craving symptomatology was highlighted .

Moreover, it may be interesting to notice that Nucleus Accumbens (NAcc) stimulation with Deep Brain Stimulation (DBS) has been reported to significantly reduced heroin consumption and/or craving in single cases ⁴³⁻⁴⁵.

Alcohol Use Disorder

There are currently four FDA-approved pharmacotherapies for alcohol use disorder – disulfiram, oral naltrexone, extended release injectable naltrexone, and acamprosate. These pharmacotherapies have been approved based on their effects in increasing abstinence more than placebo. Although these pharmacotherapies, also in combination with psychotherapies, have shown some positive findings, relapse rate are still high in patients with Alcohol Use Disorder (AUD) ⁴⁶. One of the first brain stimulation of subject with AUD was conducted in 2010 by Mishra and coll. and reported a significative anti-craving action of a 10 Hz rTMS protocol. In this sham-controlled trial 45 subjects underwent 10 daily stimulation on RDLPFC ⁴⁷.

Some anti-craving effect was also showed by the stimulation of the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex using a double-cone coil ⁴⁸. A recent study conducted in 2017, analyzed the availability of DAT after four weeks of rTMS sessions in a sham controlled study. In this work, only the patients receiving active stimulation had a modulation in DAT availability, suggesting a potential role of rTMS as anti-craving tool ⁴⁹.

However, there are several studies that do not show efficacy of the rTMS treatment for AUD. In 2011, Höppner and coll., investigated the efficacy of rTMS (20 Hz) on LDLPFC. In this sham-controlled trial, 19 subjects were enrolled (10 active and nine sham stimulation) and underwent rTMS stimulation for 10 days. No signifivative improvenment in craving levels for alchol was showed ⁵⁰. In the sham-controlled single-blind study of Herremans and coll. in 2012, 36 alcohol-dependent inpatients, underwent a single rTMS stimulation (20 Hz, 110% RMT, 40 train with a 12 s inter-train interval) above the RDLPFC before the discharge from a community for the weekend. Also in this study there was no significant effect of rTMS on craving for alcohol ⁵¹.

Cannabis Use Disorder

Cannabis is the most recreationally used drug worldwide: recreational users were approximately 3.8% of the world population in 2017. As the number of cannabis users has increased, the potency of cannabis expressed as the amount of THC increased as well. At the same time, legalization policies lead to decreased risk perception. The risk to develop a Cannabis Use Disorder is around 10% for recreational users and is linked to increased risk of psychiatric and neurological illnesses ⁵².

Only one recent open label study investigated the efficacy of rTMS in Cannabis Use Disorder (CaUD) ⁵³. Nine patients underwent 20 sessions (two weeks) of rTMS stimulation (10 Hz, 120% of RMT, 4000 pulses 5s-on,10soff) above the LDLPFC. Only three patients completed the entire protocol, and no significant improvement in craving symptomatology was highlighted in this study ⁵³.

Gambling disorder

Non-substance-related addictive disorders are frequently comorbid and share some neurobiological substrates and behavioral manifestations of substance-related addictive disorders. This is particularly true for gambling disorder. It is thus an important question whether neuromodulation could change these neurobiological vulnerabilities, and thereby have clinical value for non-substance addictive behaviors as well ⁵⁴.

Gambling disorder (GD) was recognized as the first behavioral addiction, and as such was reclassified within the category of "Substance-related and Addictive Disorders", in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of psychiatric disorders (DSM-5) in 2013. In the ICD-11. gambling disorder was classified within the same supercategory of disorders due to substance use or addictive behaviors. In the DSM-5, gaming disorder was placed in the Appendix as a condition requiring more research. There is abundant evidence on similarities between GD and SUDs regarding genetics, neurobiology, psychological processes. and effectiveness of psychological treatment 55. In GD, a neurocognitive profile showing diminished executive functioning compared to healthy controls (e.g. diminished response inhibition, cognitive flexibility) was related to differential functioning of the DLPFC and anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), both part of the cognitive control circuitry 56,57. Moreover, increased neural cue reactivity and associated self-reported craving are present in the striatum, orbitofrontal cortex and insular cortex in gambling disorder compared to healthy controls. These abnormalities in frontostriatal functioning in GD warrant the guestion of whether NIBS may be a promising add-on treatment for gambling disorder and other nonsubstance-related addictive disorders ⁵⁸. Currently, a very limited number of studies explored TMS correlates in GD. For instance, in a single session pilot study in nine problematic gamblers, high frequency rTMS reduced desire to gamble, whereas cTBS reduced blood pressure, but had no effects on gambling desire ⁵⁹. Furthermore, the authors reported no effects on impulsive behavior (delay discounting) and Stroop interference were evident. Also in a sham-controlled cross-over high-frequency rTMS study (left DLPFC), a single session active rTMS diminished craving compared to sham rTMS 60. Yet in another trial, low-frequency rTMS over the right DLPFC had similar

effects as sham stimulation on craving, thus suggesting the occurrence of placebo effect ⁶¹. Recently, a sustained effect (six months) was described in a GD subject 62, along with a modulation in dopaminergic pathways. In addition, a reduction in gambling-related symptoms has been observed also in GD-CUD comorbid patients ⁶³. Although preliminary, rTMS shows promise in restoring gamblingrelated pathophysiological alterations, deserving further investigations in well-powered controlled studies. Moreover, rigorously conducted clinical trials are needed to investigate optimal rTMS protocols with the potential to improve cognitive functioning, to diminish craving, and/or to reduce gambling behaviors/relapses in GD. Finally, if we consider GD as a disorder characterized by loss of control with respect to striatal drives such as craving, urgency for gambling and reward-seeking behaviors, then neuromodulation could be utilized as an intervention aimed at enhancing both cognitive control and the regulation of the reactivity to natural rewards.

Safety of rTMS in SUDs

The major concern about TMS safety in the treatment of SUDs is related to the risk of inducing seizures ⁶⁴. evidence supports a TMS-related Currently, no increased risk of serious or non-serious adverse events in the treatment of addictive disorders ⁶⁴. Nonetheless, increased vigilance is always warranted when theoretical concerns exist or in specific patient subgroups with limited prior data. From a safety standpoint, while rTMS has been recently established as a safe therapeutic tool, it is important to take into account that the application of rTMS in addiction is still a nascent field. Some concerns regard the possibility to induce seizures, an event that is frequently described in SUDs. Any medical and pharmacological factor independently increasing the risk of a seizure (e.g., stimulant use, alcohol use/withdrawal, benzodiazepine/barbiturate use/withdrawal. opioid use. tramadol use, bupropion in nicotine treatment, other psychopharmacological treatments used for comorbid psychiatric disorders) can in theory synergistically increase brain sensitivity to TMS induced seizures and should be taken into account.

Discussion and Conclusion

Building on data from major depression and OCD (for which TMS is currently FDA approved), we are now beginning to build a foundation of knowledge regarding rTMS utility as a tool to change smoking, drinking, and cocaine use behavior. These data provide a summary of the use of rTMS in the field of addiction. While for OUD and CaUD there are few studies in the literature reporting the efficacy of TMS protocols, for AUD the studies show controversies. Probably these results are affected by the concerns of stimulating these patients, given the increased risk to have seizures with TMS during the alcohol detoxification phases, for which particular attention is required ⁶⁵. Many of the studies regarding the treatment of SUD deal with cocaine addiction. In this field rTMS can be classified as useful anti-craving tool, with promising effect size for high frequency rTMS stimulation protocol of the LDLPFC. Also, in the treatment of GD, TMS treatment could be considered as an innovative and promising technique.

One of the main evidences highlighted in this review is the high heterogeneity of the parameters used and in particular: frequency of stimulation (high vs. low frequency); intensity; number of stimulations; stimulation area and laterality; typology of coil; concurrent psychopharmacology; specific days of treatment. This high variability makes very hard to detect a specific protocol that could guarantee a better outcome ⁵⁸. These concerns about laterality 66 are highlighted by the difference in anti-craving efficacy considering CUD and AUD: in the former, the greatest benefits are obtained by stimulating the LDLPFC, in the latter the RDLPFC.

Moreover, the number of days of stimulation play a crucial role in the efficacy of rTMS. In general, repeating stimulation over multiple days has demonstrated efficacy in various clinical applications, as happen for the treatment of depression ⁶⁷. In addition, there are few study with a long follow up period; this is a serious limitation, given that addiction is a chronically relapsing disorder ⁵⁸.

"When to stimulate" is another issue that need to be better defined. As suggested in a recent consensus paper ⁵⁸ there are four distinct time intervals at which rTMS/tDCS interventions were administered: (1) before the participant sought standard treatment, (2) while the subject was treatment seeking but before undergoing standard treatment, (3) within the first month of standard treatment (mainly detoxification and stabilization) and (4) after the initial recovery period (more than one month). If the definition of these time intervals appears to be clear, we are still far to know which intervention would benefit the most in terms of efficacy. For safety reason it is of course advisable to avoid the intoxication phase and the early detoxification, specifically alcohol and opiates withdrawals.

The role of "Outcome Measures" is also of high relevance ⁵⁸. Most of the studies used craving as their primary outcome measure. Self-report on a visual analogue scale (VAS) was the most frequently used craving measure whereas few studies used objective measures such as urine drug tests or breath analyzers. Although a reduction or elimination of the consumption of the drug is the ultimate endpoint for clinical trials research, there are also many other behavioral and biologic variables that have been studied extensively and are considered meaningful surrogate endpoints for patients seeking treatment for SUDs (e.g. heightened reactivity to predictive drug cues, perseverative responding, delayed discounting for the drug, response to stress, narrowing of the behavioral repertoire) ⁶⁸.

Neuromodulatory treatments have also been used for

comorbidities with SUDs ⁵⁸. Overlapping neurobiological substrates between SUDs and psychiatric disorders (Dunlop et al., 2017) have been widely reported. One group studying smokers with schizophrenia demonstrated that rTMS reduced cigarette cravings compared to sham 69. Another group using rTMS for comorbid dysthymia and alcohol use disorder, showed decreased alcohol consumption with rTMS 70. Perhaps a dual benefit of brain stimulation treatments targeting underlying neurobiological factors in SUDs may also extend to deficiencies found in other psychiatric disorders (i.e., nicotinic acetylcholine receptor deficits found in schizophrenia patients, associated with both higher smoking rates and cognitive dysfunction) ⁷¹.

The outcome observed is still far to be considered fully satisfactory. Variability in cortical excitability may also be linked to genetic characteristics, in the same way that responses to medications can be influenced by genetic variability ⁷². A research domain criteria approach able to identify the specific endophenotype that could be better benefit from rTMS is going to be the goal of NIBS in the next years.

This summary of the literature on rTMS treatment of SUDs, although bringing very interesting clinical potentials, highlights the need to identify potential parameters of stimulation in order to produce reliable efficacy data to the already well-investigated safety of TMS⁷³.

References

- ¹ APA. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual, American Psychiatric Association. Arlington 2013.
- ² Koob GF, Volkow ND. Neurobiology of addiction: a neurocircuitry analysis. Lancet Psychiatry 2016;3:760-773.
- ³ Adinoff B. Neurobiologic processes in drug reward and addiction. Harv Rev Psychiatry 2004;12:305-320.
- ⁴ Koob GF, Volkow ND. Neurocircuitry of addiction. Neuropsychopharmacol 2010;35:217-238.
- ⁵ Goldstein RZ, Volkow ND. Dysfunction of the prefrontal cortex in addiction: neuroimaging findings and clinical implications. Nat Rev Neurosci 2011;12:652-669.
- ⁶ Salamone JD, Correa M, Mingote S, et al. Nucleus accumbens dopamine and the regulation of effort in food-seeking behavior: implications for studies of natural motivation, psychiatry, and drug abuse. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2003;305:1-8.
- ⁷ Nutt DJ, Lingford-Hughes A, Erritzoe D, et al. The dopamine theory of addiction: 40 years of highs and lows. Nat Rev Neurosci 2015;16:305-312.
- ⁸ Robinson TE, Berridge KC. The neural basis of drug craving: an incentive-sensitization theory of addiction. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 1993;18:247-291.
- ⁹ Kampman KM. The treatment of cocaine use disorder. Sci Adv 2019;5:eaax1532.
- ¹⁰ Wagner T, Valero-Cabre A, Pascual-Leone A. Noninvasive human brain stimulation. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 2007;9:527-565.
- ¹¹ Taylor R, Galvez V, Loo C. Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) safety: a practical guide for psychiatrists. Australas Psychiatry 2018;26:189-192.

- ¹² Horvath JC, Mathews J, Demitrack MA, et al. The NeuroStar TMS device: conducting the FDA approved protocol for treatment of depression. J Vis Exp 2010. doi:10.3791/2345
- ¹³ Rapinesi C, Kotzalidis GD, Ferracuti S, et al. Brain Stimulation in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (OCD): a Systematic Review. Curr Neuropharmacol 2019;17:787-807.
- ¹⁴ Leahu P, Matei A, Groppa S. Transcranial magnetic stimulation in migraine prophylaxis. J Med Life 2018;11:175-176.
- ¹⁵ Chen BT, Yau H-J, Hatch C, et al. Rescuing cocaine-induced prefrontal cortex hypoactivity prevents compulsive cocaine seeking. Nature 2013;496:359-362.
- ¹⁶ Chen WJ, Ting TT, Chang CM, et al. Ketamine use among regular tobacco and alcohol users as revealed by respondent driven sampling in Taipei: prevalence, expectancy, and users' risky decision making. J Food Drug Anal 2013;21:S102-S105.
- ¹⁷ Jasinska AJ, Chen BT, Bonci A, et al. Dorsal medial prefrontal cortex (MPFC) circuitry in rodent models of cocaine use: implications for drug addiction therapies. Addict Biol 2015;20:215-226.
- ¹⁸ Papaleo F. COMT as a drug target for nervous system disorders. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 2012;11:193-194.
- ¹⁹ Rorie AE, Newsome WT. A general mechanism for decisionmaking in the human brain? Trends Cogn Sci 2005;9:41-43.
- ²⁰ Knoch D, Gianotti LRR, Pascual-Leone A, et al. Disruption of right prefrontal cortex by low-frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation induces risk-taking behavior. J Neurosci 2006;26:6469-6472.
- ²¹ Strafella AP, Paus T, Barrett J, et al. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the human prefrontal cortex induces dopamine release in the caudate nucleus. J Neurosci 2001;21:RC157.
- ²² Cho SS, Strafella AP. rTMS of the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex modulates dopamine release in the ipsilateral anterior cingulate cortex and orbitofrontal cortex. PLoS One 2009;4:e6725.
- ²³ Spagnolo PA, Goldman D. Neuromodulation interventions for addictive disorders: challenges, promise, and roadmap for future research. Brain 2017;140:1183-1203.
- ²⁴ Zhang X, Mei Y, Liu C, et al. Effect of transcranial magnetic stimulation on the expression of c-Fos and brain-derived neurotrophic factor of the cerebral cortex in rats with cerebral infarct. J Huazhong Univ Sci Technolog Med Sci 2007;27:415-418.
- ²⁵ Sinha R. New findings on biological factors predicting addiction relapse vulnerability. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2011;13:398-405.
- ²⁶ Volkow ND, Fowler JS, Wang GJ, et al. Dopamine in drug abuse and addiction: results from imaging studies and treatment implications. Mol Psychiatry 2004:9:557-569.
- ²⁷ Moreno-López L, Stamatakis EA, Fernández-Serrano MJ, et al. Neural Correlates of the Severity of Cocaine, Heroin, Alcohol, MDMA and Cannabis Use in Polysubstance Abusers: a Resting-PET Brain Metabolism Study. PLoS One 2012;7:e39830.
- ²⁸ Matochik JA, London ED, Eldreth DA, et al. Frontal cortical tissue composition in abstinent cocaine abusers: a magnetic resonance imaging study. Neuroimage 2003;19:1095-1102.
- ²⁹ Goldstein RZ, Volkow ND. Drug addiction and its underlying neurobiological basis: neuroimaging evidence for the involvement of the frontal cortex. Am J Psychiatry 2002;159:1642-1652.
- ³⁰ Kaufman JN, Ross TJ, Stein EA, et al. Cingulate hypoactivity

in cocaine users during a GO-NOGO task as revealed by event-related functional magnetic resonance imaging. J Neurosci 2003;23:7839-7843.

- ³¹ Licata SC, Renshaw PF. Neurochemistry of drug action: insights from proton magnetic resonance spectroscopic imaging and their relevance to addiction. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2010;1187:148-171.
- ³² Volkow ND, Fowler JS, Wang GJ. The addicted human brain: insights from imaging studies. J Clin Invest 2003;111:1444-1451.
- ³³ Ke Y, Streeter CC, Nassar LE, et al. Frontal lobe GABA levels in cocaine dependence: a two-dimensional, J-resolved magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Psychiatry Res 2004;130:283-293.
- ³⁴ Politi E, Fauci E, Santoro A, et al. Daily Sessions of Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation to the Left Prefrontal Cortex Gradually Reduce Cocaine Craving. Am J Addict 2008;17:345-346.
- ³⁵ Terraneo A, Leggio L, Saladini M, et al. Transcranial magnetic stimulation of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex reduces cocaine use: a pilot study. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 2016;26:37-44.
- ³⁶ Zhang JJQ, Fong KNK, Ouyang RG, et al. Effects of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) on craving and substance consumption in patients with substance dependence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Addiction 2019;114:2137-2149.
- ³⁷ Pettorruso M, Martinotti G, Santacroce R, et al. rTMS Reduces Psychopathological Burden and Cocaine Consumption in Treatment-Seeking Subjects With Cocaine Use Disorder: an Open Label, Feasibility Study. Front Psychiatry 2019;10:621.
- ³⁸ Camprodon JA, Martínez-Raga J, Alonso-Alonso M, et al. One session of high frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) to the right prefrontal cortex transiently reduces cocaine craving. Drug Alcohol Depend 2007;86:91-94.
- ³⁹ Verhamme KMC, Bohnen AM. Are we facing an opioid crisis in Europe? Lancet Public Heal 2019;4:e483-e484.
- ⁴⁰ Young JR, Smani SA, Mischel NA, et al. Non-invasive brain stimulation modalities for the treatment and prevention of opioid use disorder: a systematic review of the literature. J Addict Dis 2020;38:186-199.
- ⁴¹ Mahoney JJ, Marshalek PJ, Rezai AR, et al. A case report illustrating the effects of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on cue-induced craving in an individual with opioid and cocaine use disorder. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol 2020;28:1-5.
- ⁴² Shen Y, Cao X, Tan T, et al. 10-Hz Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation of the Left Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex Reduces Heroin Cue Craving in Long-Term Addicts. Biol Psychiatry 2016;80:e13-14.
- ⁴³ Kuhn J, Möller M, Treppmann JF, et al. Deep brain stimulation of the nucleus accumbens and its usefulness in severe opioid addiction. Mol Psychiatry 2014;19:145-146.
- ⁴⁴ Valencia-Alfonso CE, Luigjes J, Smolders R, et al. Effective deep brain stimulation in heroin addiction: a case report with complementary intracranial electroencephalogram. Biol Psychiatry 2012;71:e35-37.
- ⁴⁵ Zhou H, Xu J, Jiang J. Deep brain stimulation of nucleus accumbens on heroin-seeking behaviors: a case report. Biological psychiatry 2011;69:e41-42.
- ⁴⁶ Knox J, Hasin DS, Larson FRR, et al. Prevention, screening,

and treatment for heavy drinking and alcohol use disorder. The lancet Psychiatry 2019;6:1054-1067.

- ⁴⁷ Mishra BR, Nizamie SH, Das B, et al. Efficacy of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in alcohol dependence: a sham-controlled study. Addiction 2010;105:49-55.
- ⁴⁸ De Ridder D, Vanneste S, Kovacs S, et al. Transient alcohol craving suppression by rTMS of dorsal anterior cingulate: an fMRI and LORETA EEG study. Neurosci Lett 2011;496:5-10.
- ⁴⁹ Addolorato G, Antonelli M, Cocciolillo F, et al. Deep Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation of the Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex in Alcohol Use Disorder Patients: Effects on Dopamine Transporter Availability and Alcohol Intake. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 2017;27:450-461.
- ⁵⁰ Höppner J, Broese T, Wendler L, et al. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) for treatment of alcohol dependence. world J Biol psychiatry Off J World Fed Soc Biol Psychiatry 2011;1(12 Suppl):57-62.
- ⁵¹ Herremans SC, Baeken C, Vanderbruggen N, et al. No influence of one right-sided prefrontal HF-rTMS session on alcohol craving in recently detoxified alcohol-dependent patients: results of a naturalistic study. Drug Alcohol Depend 2012;120:209-213.
- ⁵² Kroon E, Kuhns L, Hoch E, et al. Heavy Cannabis Use, Dependence and the Brain: a Clinical Perspective. Addiction 2020;115:559-572.
- ⁵³ Sahlem GL, Baker NL, George MS, et al. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) administration to heavy cannabis users. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse 2018;44:47-55.
- ⁵⁴ Pettorruso M, Miuli A, Di Natale C, et al. Non-invasive brain stimulation targets and approaches to modulate gamblingrelated decisions: A systematic review. Addict Behav 2021;112:106657.
- ⁵⁵ Goudriaan AE, Yucel M, van Holst RJ. Getting a grip on problem gambling: what can neuroscience tell us? Front Behav Neurosci 2014;8:141.
- ⁵⁶ van Holst RJ, van den Brink W, Veltman DJ, et al. Why gamblers fail to win: a review of cognitive and neuroimaging findings in pathological gambling. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2010;34:87-107.
- ⁵⁷ Moccia L, Pettorruso M, De Crescenzo F, et al. Neural correlates of cognitive control in gambling disorder: a systematic review of fMRI studies. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2017;78:104-116.
- ⁵⁸ Ekhtiari H, Tavakoli H, Addolorato G, et al. Transcranial electrical and magnetic stimulation (tES and TMS) for addiction medicine: a consensus paper on the present state of the science and the road ahead. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2019;104:118-140.
- ⁵⁹ Zack M, Cho SS, Parlee J, et al. Effects of High Frequency Repeated Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation and Continuous Theta Burst Stimulation on Gambling Reinforcement, Delay Discounting, and Stroop Interference in Men with Pathological Gambling. Brain Stimul 2016;9:867-875.

- ⁶⁰ Gay A, Boutet C, Sigaud T, et al. A single session of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the prefrontal cortex reduces cue-induced craving in patients with gambling disorder. Eur Psychiatry 2017;41:68-74.
- ⁶¹ Sauvaget A, Bulteau S, Guilleux A, et al. Both active and sham low-frequency rTMS single sessions over the right DLPFC decrease cue-induced cravings among pathological gamblers seeking treatment: a randomized, double-blind, sham-controlled crossover trial. J Behav Addict 2018;7:126-136.
- ⁶² Pettorruso M, Di Giuda D, Martinotti G, et al. Dopaminergic and clinical correlates of high-frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in gambling addiction: a SPECT case study. Addict Behav 2019;93:246-249.
- ⁶³ Cardullo S, Gomez Perez LJ, Marconi L, et al. Clinical Improvements in Comorbid Gambling/Cocaine Use Disorder (GD/CUD) Patients Undergoing Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (rTMS). J Clin Med 2019;8:768.
- ⁶⁴ Rossi S, De Capua A, Tavanti M, et al. Dysfunctions of cortical excitability in drug-naive posttraumatic stress disorder patients. Biol Psychiatry 2009;66:54-61.
- ⁶⁵ Gorelick DA, Zangen A, George MS. Transcranial magnetic stimulation in the treatment of substance addiction. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2014;1327:79-93.
- ⁶⁶ Balconi M, Finocchiaro R, Canavesio Y. Reward-system effect (BAS rating), left hemispheric 'unbalance' (alpha band oscillations) and decisional impairments in drug addiction. Addict Behav 2014;39:1026-1032.
- ⁶⁷ Senova S, Cotovio G, Pascual-Leone A, et al. Durability of antidepressant response to repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Brain Stimul 2019;12:119-128.
- ⁶⁸ Beveridge TJR, Smith HR, Nader MA, et al. Abstinence from chronic cocaine self-administration alters striatal dopamine systems in rhesus monkeys. Neuropsychopharmacology 2009;34:1162-1171.
- ⁶⁹ Wing VC, Barr MS, Wass CE, et al. Brain stimulation methods to treat tobacco addiction. Brain Stimul 2013;6:221-230.
- ⁷⁰ Ceccanti M, Inghilleri M, Attilia ML, et al. Deep TMS on alcoholics: effects on cortisolemia and dopamine pathway modulation. A pilot study. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 2015;93:283-290.
- ⁷¹ Lucatch AM, Lowe DJE, Clark RC, et al. Neurobiological Determinants of Tobacco Smoking in Schizophrenia. Front psychiatry 2018;9:672.
- ⁷² Sturgess JE, George TP, Kennedy JL, et al. Pharmacogenetics of alcohol, nicotine and drug addiction treatments. Addict Biol 2011;16:357-376.
- ⁷³ Zis P, Shafique F, Hadjivassiliou M, et al. Safety, Tolerability, and Nocebo Phenomena During Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Placebo-Controlled Clinical Trials. Neuromodulation 2020;23:291-300.

Evidence based Psychiatric Care

Journal of the Italian Society of Psychiatry

Book Review

Empathy, Normalization and De-escalation Management of the Agitated Patient in Emergency and Critical Situations

Massimo Biondi, Massimo Pasquini, Lorenzo Tarsitani





Empathy, Normalization and De-escalation

Management of the Agitated Patient in Emergency and Critical Situations

Massimo Biondi Massimo Pasquini Lorenzo Tarsitani *Editors*

🖄 Springer

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

Open Access

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl